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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Good morning, and

          3  welcome.

          4                 Today the Committee on Civil Service

          5  and Labor will receive testimony in relation to

          6  Resolution 1723. At the outset, let me state that

          7  because of the short notice given in relation to

          8  this hearing, the Committee did not send out any

          9  formal correspondence in the way of invitation.

         10                 The Committee did attempt, however,

         11  to notify several of the persons who are key players

         12  in the dispute which is the subject of resolution

         13  1723, and we hope they are in attendance at today's

         14  meeting.

         15                 That being said, this is indeed an

         16  official hearing of the Committee of the Council.

         17  Resolution 1723, sponsored by Council Members Quinn,

         18  Freed, Lopez and Miller and co-sponsored by Council

         19  Members Leffler and Robles supports the democratic

         20  legal management at WBAI, 99.5 FM radio, and affirms

         21  the stated position of Concerned Friends of WBAI in

         22  relation to the current situation existing between

         23  WBAI and the Pacifica Foundation. The issue of WBAI

         24  has aroused the passions of many persons throughout

         25  the City of New York. It must be understood,
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          2  however, that this Committee and this Council cannot

          3  resolve this dispute.

          4                 It can provide a forum for civil

          5  discourse on the issues raised in the resolution.

          6  And I would just like to add that because of the

          7  urgency of this matter, this meeting was arranged to

          8  accommodate you, and you can certainly thank Miss

          9  Hoffman, who stayed on top of it.

         10                 Having said that, the way I would

         11  like to convene this meeting today, because I am

         12  leaving here straight for an emergency, I think,

         13  that I'm going to have the principal speakers, and

         14  then I will hold all other speakers to a radical

         15  three-minute limit. You all know the content of what

         16  you want to say, please capsulize it so that I can

         17  hear all of you. Is that fair?

         18                 Is that fair?

         19                 Thank you. Thank you.

         20                 And the last thing is, I will not

         21  tolerate any outbursts. Please respect one another,

         22  whatever your views are, and let's move forward.

         23                 The first speakers, is Bernard White

         24  here? Congressman Major Owens. Major Owens is a

         25  friend. Are you here to read a statement for him?
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          2  Please take a seat.

          3                 And once again, if I hit the gavel,

          4  it's not to be rude, it's just that I have to hold

          5  you to a three-minute capsule. Thank you.

          6                 MR. HARDING: Ladies and gentlemen, my

          7  name is Stephen Harding. I've been a member of

          8  Concerned Friends of WBAI since the Christmas Coup.

          9  Today I'm here to read a portion of a statement by

         10  Congressman Major R. Owens, that he would have

         11  delivered had he been able to attending this

         12  hearing, this meeting.

         13                 Good morning, ladies and gentlemen, I

         14  greatly appreciate the opportunity to speak about

         15  the present turmoil at WBAI in New York City, and to

         16  state that this situation requires profound

         17  deliberations and immediate action.

         18                 We must do everything possible to

         19  avoid mutilation and disintegration of a great

         20  institution.

         21                 I am presenting this statement to

         22  reinforce my commitment to do everything possible to

         23  help resolve the current crisis at WBAI. This is a

         24  cause that I did not go searching for, and it is

         25  another assignment that I do not need, however,
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          2  there are enormous implications to the larger issues

          3  of ordinary citizen access to the airwaves and the

          4  spectrum, as well as an updating and upgrading of

          5  our right to free speech.

          6                 My recent strange experience with

          7  WBAI started with a routine request that I called in

          8  for a phone interview on a show hosted on radio

          9  station WBAI by Ken Nash, which focuses on union and

         10  labor news and features. The name of the show which

         11  commences at 2:00 p.m. was Building Bridges.

         12                 As the ranking democrat on the

         13  Workforce Protection Subcommittee, I welcome the

         14  chance to appear on shows related to working

         15  families or unions. As I started to present my point

         16  of view on the issues of free speech and access to

         17  the airwaves by the average citizen without

         18  explanation or apology, the Acting General Manager

         19  Utrice Leid shut down the microphones and proclaimed

         20  that she had to intervene because it was her job to

         21  allow only the "truth" over the airwaves. My

         22  contribution was terminated just minutes into the

         23  interview and I was effectively gagged much in the

         24  same manner as the many producers and staff of WBAI.

         25                 The core issue at stake here is the
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          2  scope of access to diverse opinions and presentation

          3  of information and speech, which is presently being

          4  denied to staff and listeners of WBAI.

          5                 It appears that the WBAI management

          6  and Pacifica Foundation in deciding to remove access

          7  of both staff and listeners from these basic

          8  freedoms have taken us into the realm of

          9  totalitarian mandates, as part of a new status quo.

         10                 Division of the founder of Pacifica

         11  Foundation is indeed far reaching and more relevant

         12  in the Year 2001 than the time of its organization.

         13  When our publicly owned spectrum is cluttered with a

         14  myriad of commercially subsidized mainstream

         15  opinions, dissident and diverse viewpoints should

         16  not be limited to the distribution of paper

         17  leaflets.

         18                 The situation at WBAI has

         19  implications far beyond this one station. Freedom of

         20  speech over the airwaves via radio, broadcast

         21  television, and cable television is presently being

         22  limited for the majority of Americans.

         23                 We have a problem of great magnitude

         24  that is not being appropriately addressed. The WBAI

         25  arrangement and structure offered one model to be
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          2  emulated. As a listener supported station with a

          3  very diverse set of programs, procedures and guests,

          4  WBAI represents the optimum use of radio in the

          5  service of ordinary people.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 (The following is a continuation of

          8  the written testimony of Congressman Major Owens,

          9  and was read into the record.)

         10                 "The unique status of WBAI as a

         11  non-profit entity merit a unique decision-making

         12  structure, I would like to present to this Council a

         13  proposal for a constructive and productive

         14  compromise in solving this conflict. I attach a more

         15  lengthy outline which spells out the following.

         16                 1) The election of a WBAI Advisory

         17  Committee which is delegated the financial and

         18  business authority normally assumed by a Board of

         19  Trustees at a University.

         20                 2) The treatment of the long-term

         21  producers and hosts at WBAI as if they were a

         22  university faculty with tenure and some

         23  decision-making powers with respect to overall

         24  programming.

         25                 3) Listener-supporters would be
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          2  granted clear powers to elect the Advisory Committee

          3  with trustee power.

          4                 A compromise of this nature would

          5  require some "amnesty" with respect to alleged acts

          6  of defiance, however, it is a proposal which would

          7  make such adjustment worthwhile. Pacifica management

          8  could maintain an adequate and acceptable

          9  administration while an important degree of academic

         10  freedom and independence would be preserved for a

         11  diverse group of producers and hosts who have made

         12  WBAI the unique institution that it presently is.

         13                 There is a legitimate basis for the

         14  fear of a conspiracy to sell stations but neither

         15  side in this conflict should underestimate the

         16  other. Please remember that the hundred years long

         17  war between Athens and Sparta is recalled only as a

         18  conflict that lasted for one-hundred years, no one

         19  ever mentions what the fight was all about. It is

         20  clear that neither side won and Greece as a nation

         21  was a loser.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 WBAI Attachment.

         24                 Conflict Resolution Proposal.

         25                 Step 1- Use the resources of pacifica
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          2  to engage a conflict resolution organization.

          3                 Step 2- Develop an Interim Code of

          4  Conduct Agreement to be signed by all contending

          5  parties. Part of the code would specify that there

          6  be no discussion of the internal affairs of the

          7  station on the air. The code agreement would also

          8  require the acceptance of the present Interim

          9  Station Manager for the duration of the conflict

         10  resolution negotiations.

         11                 Step 3- Reinstate all the staff and

         12  volunteers who were fired or banned for the duration

         13  of the negotiations. (Only the previous Station's

         14  Manager should be given a new assignment.)

         15                 Step 4- Allow the resumption of

         16  programs in existence prior to the appointment of

         17  the Interim Manager and grant "academic freedom" and

         18  independence to the producers and hosts.

         19                 Step 5- Establish a six-month

         20  deadline for the negotiations and assign priority to

         21  decision-making on the following components:

         22                 A. The establishment of a mechanism

         23  for listener-supporters to elect an Advisory

         24  Committee that would be delegated the duties and

         25  responsibilities of a Board of Trustees.
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          2                 The Pacifica Board would have to

          3  agree to a new and unique relationship. (The

          4  alternative here is the negotiation of independence

          5  for WBAI.)

          6                 B. Develop the policies and

          7  procedures necessary to create tenure protections

          8  for long-term producers and hosts. Such producers

          9  and hosts must also be granted a significant role in

         10  decision-making with respect to general programming.

         11                 3. Implement an institutionalized

         12  "checks and balances" arrangement which restrains

         13  the total powers of any Station Manager while

         14  granting the necessary authority to maintain orderly

         15  administration. At the same time decision-making on

         16  programming must be primarily the function of the

         17  collective (faculty) of producers and hosts.

         18                 (End of written testimony.)

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you. And

         20  thank you for modifying it somewhat. Thank you so

         21  much.

         22                 Next speaker, Mimi Rosenberg.

         23                 MS. ROSENBERG: Good morning. I would

         24  like to call on the City Council to join our very

         25  broad coalition across the country who is calling
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          2  for a return of the Pacifica network with previously

          3  democratic structure and founding mission.

          4                 I'm an attorney with the Civil

          5  Division of the Legal Aid Society, and until

          6  February 5th, 2001, I co-produced and co-hosted,

          7  along with Ken Nash, Building Bridges, your

          8  community and labor report, the oldest, longest

          9  running nationally distributed --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Ms. Rosenberg?

         11                 MS. ROSENBERG: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Please, do you have

         13  a statement? A copy.

         14                 MS. ROSENBERG: It's more notes. I'm

         15  afraid I didn't make one for reproduction.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Fine. Thank you.

         17                 From now on, please, if you have a

         18  copy of your statement, give it to us immediately.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 MS. ROSENBERG: Thank you.

         21                 What I was just indicating is that

         22  the program I did had been certainly the longest,

         23  oldest, nationally distributed labor program in the

         24  country.

         25                 I also produced and hosted in brief,
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          2  which was a half-hour morning show feature covering

          3  issues of law and social justice for Wake-Up Call.

          4                 For more than 30 years I've been a

          5  producer at WBAI. I am the unpaid staff, elected

          6  representative to the local advisory board, but I'm

          7  also currently fired, banned from the station, and

          8  subject to arrest if I enter the premises and

          9  defamed relentlessly over the airways, accused of

         10  violence, which have no opportunity or due process

         11  to repudiate.

         12                 My co-host on Building Bridges, Ken

         13  Nash, was censored, fired, and his program, our

         14  program, cancelled.

         15                 I am part of a growing number of

         16  people who were banned and fired, but most

         17  important, New York is losing a vital resource,

         18  indeed a historic treasure which has functioned for

         19  41 years. It is losing free speech,

         20  community-oriented, non-commercial radio.

         21                 Wake-Up Call, WBAI's signature

         22  program, has been cancelled. No longer can listeners

         23  feel sweet in the morning from 6:00 a.m. to 9:00

         24  a.m. WBAI's signature program and its multi-racial

         25  joyous host engage in socially active journalism,
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          2  that has been dismantled.

          3                 Its co-host Bernard White, who for

          4  over 20 years helped build a station, and Amy

          5  Goodman, whose journalism on Wake-Up Call and

          6  Democracy Now has earned her a polk award and

          7  numerous other awards as an internationally

          8  acclaimed journalist are silenced.

          9                 Building Bridges, the Link to Work

         10  and the Rights of Workers is silent. Al, Grandpa

         11  Lewis, a survivor of McCarthyism and Hollywood's

         12  black list has finally been silenced.

         13                 New York and the tristate region has

         14  lost the voices of activists, and engaged

         15  journalists. The constituents of the panel's forums

         16  have lost a real voice, not a soundbite, but a forum

         17  barring none in which to present their issues,

         18  unencumbered by commercialism and indeed at times

         19  government interference.

         20                 Formerly uncensored, WBAI posited an

         21  alternative to the ever-increasingly globalized

         22  homogenized media.

         23                 In recent past years WBAI was

         24  uncensored and neither the status quo or a

         25  managerial elite could encumber its message.
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          2                 There is a broad redirection of

          3  Pacifica. It is reflected in the firing, the

          4  banning, the removal of programs and what they have

          5  been replaced with.

          6                 Today, a feature story in the New

          7  York Times serves as a metaphor for the changes in

          8  Pacifica.

          9                 Washington is losing its first only

         10  public hospital, the article says. Quote, says one

         11  of the doctors, we are tossing public health into

         12  the trash. When you lose public health in the

         13  capitol of the most powerful nation in the country,

         14  it is an indicator of what the rest of the country

         15  is doing. What is lost is a guaranteed open door, a

         16  room at the Inn.

         17                 Our Washington station presently

         18  serves primarily as another music station which

         19  tucks away in its format some public affairs

         20  programming and disregard of the station's historic

         21  mandate and derogation of the needs of the

         22  impoverished and disenfranchised population of

         23  Washington, D.C.

         24                 The reason I mentioned that article

         25  is because the special reality of WBAI is that there
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          2  was a fluidity, an openness, an inclusion, indeed

          3  our communities of people came the station. At this

          4  time our station is subject to lock-down. There are

          5  guards, there are surveillance mechanisms. The

          6  airwaves are no longer accessible to the public,

          7  indeed the station has been militarized.

          8                 The slogan that has been adopted

          9  across the country: Who's station, our station, is

         10  not a reality at this time at WBAI.

         11                 Now, I know the Council members will

         12  not be fooled by the unsubstantiated claims of

         13  violence and efforts of vilification for those who

         14  believe in democratization. It's continuation at

         15  WBAI.

         16                 And I would ask you to consider,

         17  since Christmas weekend of 2000, what has happened.

         18  Where is the violence? If workers are summarily

         19  fired without cause, is that the violence?

         20                 If people are locked out and list of

         21  accessibility established, is that the violence?

         22                 If the local advisory board is banned

         23  from the station, is that the violence?

         24                 Of course it is. A managerial elite

         25  who no longer considers and advise and includes the
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          2  community, this precious resource is in sore

          3  jeopardy of loss after its 41-year history.

          4                 The question of how this happened

          5  really is about the governance structure and the

          6  fact that a self-selecting board has thoroughly

          7  disenfranchised the listeners who not only

          8  contribute the dollars that make this station run

          9  but contribute the vitality, the sensitivity and the

         10  public discourse that have made this a hallmark

         11  barring none in radio broadcast history.

         12                 I would just end by saying that the

         13  Supreme Court, as a legal, not a political

         14  statement, told us that the airwaves belong to the

         15  people. Well, with the globalized, homogenized

         16  media, this has not been the case. It has been the

         17  case with WBAI for 41 years, and the Pacifica

         18  Network for 50 years.

         19                 I urge the Council to support the

         20  resolution for it, and make the statement of the

         21  Supreme Court, that the airways belong to the

         22  people, indeed are the people, are reality, and to

         23  look at this as an issue of free speech,

         24  community-based radio return to our neighborhoods,

         25  and certainly an issue of workers' rights.
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          2                 I thank you for your patience and

          3  commitment to this issue. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Ms. Rosenberg,

          5  please come back, I just have a question.

          6                 How does the existing programming

          7  compare with previously programs that exist?

          8                 MS. ROSENBERG: Well, there are whole

          9  constituencies and voices that no longer will be

         10  represented. Building Bridges has spent 15 years of

         11  its air time being a facilitator and advocate for a

         12  receptacle, if you will, for the voice of the rank

         13  and file in the community's labor movements to

         14  express their issues and concerns. Whether it's work

         15  experience, workers fighting to unionize and to

         16  better their life condition, or indeed groups like

         17  the Mail Handlers Union, the Professional Staff

         18  Congress who work to democratize their unions, this

         19  was available, there is no outlet for worker-based

         20  program.

         21                 In addition, it's changed because it

         22  doesn't have a symbiotic relationship with the

         23  community anymore. The community is physically

         24  locked out. Very often what was wonderful about

         25  Wake-Up Call, its signature program, what was
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          2  wonderful about Al Lewis' program, the community

          3  could literally filter into the studio almost on a

          4  spontaneous basis and become the program itself as

          5  issues emerge for individuals and neighborhoods and

          6  organizations. The structure no longer permits that

          7  inclusion. So, issues of the prison industrial

          8  complex and the burgeoning, tragically burgeoning

          9  prison population, issue of work and workers'

         10  rights, issues of multi-racial sensitivities, they

         11  are no longer a part of the airwaves of WBAI in a

         12  regular way. Not as determined by management, but as

         13  determined by the community who experiences on a

         14  day-to-day issue the myriad concerns of this City,

         15  of this country.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Am I then to

         17  understand that the programming of the station at

         18  this time has -- tell me what programs are, in fact,

         19  taking place. What are they doing there now?

         20                 MS. ROSENBERG: Well, if one looks at

         21  the difference, for example, again, the signature

         22  program and the most listened to space on the radio

         23  dial is generally the morning hours, as people

         24  prepare to go about their regular duties, whether

         25  it's work or taking care of their families, et
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          2  cetera.

          3                 The change in the air time, is, one,

          4  there was a multi-racial group that mediated,

          5  moderated over that air space. I think that's very

          6  important, given the reality of the different

          7  ethnicities within the context of this City.

          8                 In addition, there was an experience

          9  of inclusion. The hosts were not the personalities,

         10  the hosts were there to bring to light in a dramatic

         11  and prolonged form the issues that evolve in our

         12  neighborhoods. There were series that were included,

         13  there were series on sports, there were series on

         14  social justice and social welfare issues, on law and

         15  social justice issues. Those features that were part

         16  of the morning show, and seeing the morning show as

         17  a way of activating and engaging people in social

         18  justice issues is not there. It is primarily what we

         19  could call a rip and tear format, which as issues

         20  hit the mass media they are then picked up on and

         21  broadcast.

         22                 It's not seen as an embryonic base

         23  for organizing around social justice, and I think

         24  it's a fundamental character that's now been

         25  removed.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

          3                 MS. ROSENBERG: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Richard Antons and

          5  Gregory Segarra. And, again, I hope -- watch that

          6  clock, because I brought someone on to make sure we

          7  hold to this three-minute limit. Thank you.

          8                 MR. ANTONS: No problem. Good morning.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Do you have a copy

         10  of your statement?

         11                 MR. ANTONS: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: May we have one?

         13                 MR. ANTONS: I do not have an extra

         14  copy. I was not informed to that, I would need to

         15  provide an extra copy. I would be happy to --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Excuse me. I can't

         17  hear anything you're saying, sir. I'm sorry.

         18                 MR. ANTONS: Sure.

         19                 I do not have an extra copy that I

         20  could give to you at this time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Okay.

         22                 MR. ANTONS: But I would be happy to

         23  meet with someone after and make a copy of what I

         24  have here for you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Wonderful. Please
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          2  make a copy.

          3                 Do you have a copy, sir?

          4                 MR. SEGARRA: No, Ma'am.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Okay. That's fine.

          6  We will make copies afterwards.

          7                 We've reset. You've got three minutes

          8  each, so go.

          9                 MR. ANTONS: Okay. My name is Richard

         10  Antons. I was asked to read this letter to the

         11  Council. And please tell me if I need to speak up.

         12  I'm not accustomed to speaking into a microphone.

         13                 This letter is from Bessie Wash. She

         14  is the Executive Director of Pacifica Foundation.

         15                 The Concerned Friends of WBAI have

         16  accused the Pacifica Foundation of intervening in

         17  the affairs of WBAI and have asked the Council of

         18  the City of New York to adopt a resolution,

         19  Resolution Number 1723, that endorses a series of

         20  demands made by the Concerned Friends.

         21                 Let me say a few words about why

         22  adoption of the proposed resolution would not be

         23  only unwise but contrary to law.

         24                 First, we are all Concerned Friends

         25  of WBAI, proud of its history of service to the City
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          2  of New York, and concerned that it be allowed to

          3  continue its mission without fear or threat of

          4  coercion. But the Pacifica Foundation is more than a

          5  concerned friend, it is the licensee of WBAI, with

          6  the responsibility of operating that station in

          7  compliance with the requirements of the federal

          8  communications commission and other legal

          9  authorities.

         10                 As the licensee of WBAI, Pacifica,

         11  and Pacifica alone, has the right and an obligation

         12  to manage the operation of WBAI. Although Pacifica

         13  may delegate day-to-day functions to employees, it

         14  has ultimate responsibility for essential station

         15  functions, such as personnel, programming and

         16  finances.

         17                 This responsibility may not be

         18  delegated to others, per Southwest Texas

         19  Broadcasting Council, 85 FCC, 2d, 713, 715 (1981).

         20  Resolution Number 1723 would approve demands that

         21  unlawfully encroach on Pacifica's duties as an FCC

         22  licensee by dictating Pacifica personnel and

         23  programming decisions.

         24                 Resolution 1723 would approve demands

         25  that contravene the communication's act by
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          2  authorizing the WBAI Advisory Board to participate

          3  in the management of WBAI.

          4                 Section 396(k)(8)(k) of the

          5  Communications Act 47 U.S.C. (k)(8)(C), prohibits

          6  granting an advisory board in the authority to

          7  exercise any control over the daily management or

          8  operation of the station.

          9                 Resolution Number 1723 would approve

         10  demands that would require Pacifica to include all

         11  staff, paid and unpaid in the WBAI collective

         12  bargaining unit. That demand is contrary to ruling

         13  of the National Labor Relation Board that unpaid

         14  staff are not employees within the meaning of

         15  Section 2(3) of the National Labor Relations Act, 29

         16  U.S.C. 152(3), that unpaid staff should be excluded

         17  from the WBAI collective bargaining unit.

         18                 WBAI, Pacifica Foundation and United

         19  Electrical, Radio and Machine Workers of America

         20  (UE) and its local 404,328 NLRB 179 (1999), the City

         21  Council is a governmental agency whose actions

         22  constitute state action, attempts to compel Pacifica

         23  to cancel existing WBAI programs and restore

         24  programs previously broadcast, would not only

         25  encroach upon Pacifica's FCC duties, but would
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          2  violate the First Amendment of the Constitution.

          3                 For these reasons, among others, the

          4  Pacifica Foundation respectfully asks that the City

          5  Council not adopt Resolution 1723, per Bessie Wash,

          6  Executive Director.

          7                 MR. SMITH: For the record, I'd just

          8  like to indicate that the City Council has the

          9  authority to pass a resolution such as this.

         10                 I feel compelled to address it

         11  because there are some legal points that are being

         12  made, and I don't know if you're an attorney -- are

         13  you an attorney?

         14                 MR. ANTONS: No, sir.

         15                 MR. SMITH: Okay.

         16                 We passed resolutions such as this

         17  several times in the past. We were challenged in

         18  federal court on Fisher Scientific versus the City

         19  Council, et al., we prevailed at that level. Judge

         20  Sonya Sontamia Layor (phonetic), ruled in our favor,

         21  a ruling that the Council has the authority to

         22  comment on labor disputes, comment on disputes which

         23  affect the property and people and affairs of the

         24  City of New York.

         25                 We've done this before. This is not
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          2  unprecedented. I just wish that they perhaps had

          3  sent, if they're making legal points, that they had

          4  sent an attorney in to speak, especially when

          5  they're critical of the Council.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

          7                 MR. ANTONS: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Next speaker,

          9  please, and three minutes.

         10                 MR. SEGARRA: Thank you. My name is

         11  Gregory Segarra.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: You have to speak a

         13  little louder, please.

         14                 MR. SEGARRA: I'm sorry.

         15                 My name is Gregory Segarra. I'm going

         16  to read this resolution.

         17                 Committee for the Preservation of

         18  Integrity and Independence at WBAI resolution.

         19                 Whereas: The Committee on Civil

         20  Service and Labor of New York City Council has

         21  scheduled a public hearing on Monday, May 7th, 2001,

         22  to address Council resolution 1723, a resolution

         23  supporting democratic legal management at WBAI, 99.5

         24  FM radio, and affirming the stated position of the

         25  Concerned Friends of WBAI in relation to the current
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          2  situation existing between WBAI and the Pacifica

          3  Foundation; and

          4                 Whereas: The language and title of

          5  this aforementioned resolution expressively preclude

          6  any opportunity for reasonable discourse. The

          7  architects of this action have clearly prejudged the

          8  issues involved, and are resolved to forge common

          9  cause with dissident voices seeking to undermine the

         10  image and integrity of WBAI radio, the Pacifica

         11  Foundation, their supporters and loyalists, and

         12                 Whereas: This action is being

         13  undertaken in a critical election year for municipal

         14  office holders in the City of New York, all primary

         15  sponsors listed on the resolutions are either

         16  campaigning or reelection or seeking higher office;

         17  and

         18                 Whereas: At no time was the

         19  management of WBAI or the governing Board of

         20  Pacifica Foundation consulted by the sponsor to

         21  ascertain the facts regarding WBAI's decision to

         22  effect certain internal administrative adjustments

         23  and personal modifications to achieve greater

         24  productivity and enhance efficiencies in a highly

         25  competitive and rapidly involving information
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          2  marketplace; and

          3                 Whereas: The aforementioned

          4  resolution 1723 seeks to establish a false and

          5  insidious dichotomy between WBAI radio and the

          6  Pacifica Foundation, which owns the broadcast

          7  license under which WBAI operates and to which the

          8  station is accountable for for fiscal

          9  administration, corporate policy and practice; and

         10                 Whereas: The loyal listeners and

         11  sponsors of WBAI will not be held hostage to the

         12  prevarications of misguided dissident minority who

         13  seeks to impute integrity and independence of the

         14  station, and denied to listeners their right to the

         15  enjoyment of quality and excellence in broadcasting;

         16  and

         17                 Whereas: WBAI radio, preeminent New

         18  York City institution dedicated to preservation of

         19  free speech and multi-cultural understanding remains

         20  firmly committed to the mission and principles that

         21  have guided the station since the establishment,

         22  since its establishment 20 years ago;

         23                 Be It Resolved: That the Committee

         24  for Preservation, Integrity and Independence at WBAI

         25  calls on Council Committee on Civil Service and
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          2  Labor to lay over any further consideration in the

          3  matter of Resolution 1723; and

          4                 Be It Further Resolved, that the

          5  Committee for the Preservation, Integrity and

          6  Independence at WBAI calls upon all dissident

          7  factions to cease and desist from any further

          8  engagement designed to destroy or derail the pursuit

          9  of excellence and commitment to public service which

         10  WBAI continues to enjoy highest respect and

         11  accommodations of its supporters.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: I'm going to ask a

         14  question. I don't know if it's misinformation or

         15  very accurate information, let me just pose a

         16  question to you.

         17                 Is WBAI up for sale?

         18                 MR. SEGARRA: No. If you listened to

         19  the station last Friday, the Chairman of Pacifica

         20  was on, Robert Acosta, and Ms. Mariswan (phonetic),

         21  and they stated emphatically that they were not

         22  going to sell the station like three or four times.

         23  If you want a copy of the show, we can send that to

         24  you, okay? And they also plan on opening three new

         25  stations in the Midwest. But you don't hear about
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          2  that if you don't listen to the station, so. I can

          3  give you a copy.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you. I just

          5  wanted to -- that was a concern I had. Thank you.

          6                 May I please introduce you to Council

          7  Member Christine Quinn, who has joined us.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          9                 First, I just want to apologize for

         10  having been late to the hearing.

         11                 Secondly, I just want to start off,

         12  and I have a couple of questions.

         13                 To the gentleman who spoke second,

         14  I'm sorry, your name?

         15                 MR. SEGARRA: Gregory.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm sorry,

         17  what?

         18                 MR. SEGARRA: Gregory -- it doesn't

         19  work.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You know what,

         21  just yell.

         22                 MR. SEGARRA: I don't want to yell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, then I

         24  could hear you.

         25                 MR. SEGARRA: Gregory Segarra.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr. Segarra,

          3  I'm the prime sponsor of the resolution, so I think

          4  I'm the person that you referenced when you said

          5  that the sponsor gave no notification, sought no

          6  information or something to that effect?

          7                 MR. SEGARRA: I'm just here to read

          8  the message. I'm not here to quibble with you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay. And

         10  you're reading the message on who's behalf?

         11                 MR. SEGARRA: Ms. Utrice Leid.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay. Well,

         13  then I just want to state for the record, so you

         14  could then carry this message back, that I am the

         15  prime sponsor, (a), (b) there are, one, two, three,

         16  four, five -- six other sponsors on the bill. She is

         17  actually incorrect in that all of those sponsors are

         18  running for re-election or for higher office. That's

         19  not correct. I can take her through the term limits

         20  law and who is running and isn't running, if she'd

         21  like.

         22                 Beyond that, and perhaps more

         23  importantly, I have, and many of my colleagues have

         24  signed on, sent numerous letters to the station

         25  requesting the fact, requesting answers to questions

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  and most recently requesting a meeting, that second

          3  letter requesting a meeting was never responded to.

          4  So, the assertion that this resolution was

          5  introduced without an attempt to hear from both

          6  sides without the fact is incorrect. In fact, this

          7  resolution was introduced on some level because of

          8  the frustration on my office's part because of the

          9  inability -- partially, as I was saying, you might

         10  have missed, this resolution was introduced

         11  partially because of frustration on my office's part

         12  because we were not afforded the respect of a

         13  dialogue or a request for a meeting.

         14                 So, her entire statement that she

         15  asked you to read was predicated on incorrect

         16  information and a complete lack of understanding of

         17  the process.

         18                 Do you know why she's not here today?

         19                 MR. SEGARRA: I do not know.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And what's your

         21  position?

         22                 MR. SEGARRA: I'm production assistant

         23  on the new morning show.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm sorry, I'm

         25  having terrible trouble hearing you.
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          2                 MR. SEGARRA: This microphone -- is

          3  that better?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Is the light on

          5  or off?

          6                 MR. SEGARRA: There's two lights on,

          7  and one says "standby".

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What about the

          9  big red button, is it on or off?

         10                 MR. SEGARRA: Now it's on. Hello?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, great,

         12  thank you.

         13                 Could you state your position again,

         14  because I couldn't hear you.

         15                 MR. SEGARRA: I just started working

         16  on the morning show as production assistant.

         17                 What are you making faces for?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm not a radio

         19  professional, but, so does a production assistant on

         20  the morning show, does that -- are you somehow in

         21  the upper management structure? I mean, I'm not a

         22  radio professional, but are you?

         23                 MR. SEGARRA: No.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, do you know

         25  why you were chosen to deliver the statement?
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          2                 MR. SEGARRA: I was just asked.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You were just

          4  asked.

          5                 MR. SEGARRA: I was just asked to come

          6  down. Is that okay?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: It's fine.

          8  Well, actually it's not fine -- I mean, it's fine

          9  you were asked, you did your job. It's not fine from

         10  the perspective of she sent someone to read her

         11  statement who has really no authority or ability to

         12  answer any of the questions that in fact were posed

         13  in my letters that would have been discussed in a

         14  meeting and are the purposes of this hearing. So, I

         15  would assert she put you in a very unfair and

         16  uncomfortable and irresponsible position because as

         17  a production assistant on the morning show, if I had

         18  a lot of questions about the morning show, you would

         19  be absolutely perhaps one of the right people to

         20  answer them. But you're not the right person, I'm

         21  assuming, to answer the vast majority of the

         22  questions that I posed in my letter, would have

         23  asked at the meeting, and would have asked today.

         24                 So, I'm not going to put you through

         25  that because it's not fair.
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          2                 MR. SEGARRA: Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But I would

          4  request that you ask her to respond to the Council

          5  as to why it is that she did not attend, and why it

          6  is she didn't send somebody who could answer

          7  questions and that the only messages she sent were

          8  incorrect and the statement by the Pacifica

          9  Foundation was really a statement that we don't have

         10  the authority to do this, which is also incorrect,

         11  and offensive.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 MR. SEGARRA: Okay, thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Bernard White.

         16                 Do you think you'll be able to read

         17  your statement in three?

         18                 MR. WHITE: I think so.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

         20                 Start.

         21                 MR. WHITE: Okay. Well, it's been

         22  about four months since the WBAI Christmas Coup, it

         23  was late in the evening of December 22nd that a

         24  small band of disgruntled staff, led by Utrice Leid,

         25  under the auspices of Bessie Wash, Pacifica's
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          2  Executive Director, took over WBAI.

          3                 They immediately fired Valeria

          4  Vanisala (phonetic) station manager, Sharon Harper,

          5  Executive Producer of Wake-Up Call, and me, Bernard

          6  White, Program Director and co-host of Wake-Up Call.

          7                 We were all threatened with arrests

          8  if we entered the station. Our personal property was

          9  confiscated, personal items were stolen. I did not

         10  receive any of my property until two months after

         11  the coup. I still have not received my W2 form so I

         12  cannot file my taxes.

         13                 Leid also violated the union contract

         14  and banned the entire support staff of Wake-Up Call,

         15  WBAI's award winning morning program.

         16                 When the takeover took place we were

         17  experiencing an unprecedented success as a listeners

         18  sponsored radio station. In a 12-month period we

         19  erased a $200,000 deficit, we increased our

         20  subscriber base, as well as our listenership, and in

         21  October had a record-breaking fundraiser. I left out

         22  that we also had a $70,000 surplus.

         23                 Leid and her co-conspiritors

         24  attempted to convince listeners that they're actions

         25  were in response to an internal conflict. That is a
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          2  gross mischaracterization of reality.

          3                 Our listening community was

          4  understandably confused and shocked. Many could not

          5  or did not want to believe that someone we held in

          6  such high esteem could be involved in behavior that

          7  was so diabolical and underhanded. However, maybe

          8  now it's clear.

          9                 Those who were ousted publicly

         10  declared that the station was in the midst of a raw

         11  corporate takeover launching a narrowly-focused

         12  depoliticized programmatic direction for WBAI.

         13                 We declared, to the chagrin of many,

         14  that because of this takeover, our ability to make

         15  our own decisions to maintain our economy had been

         16  destroyed by a small group who placed their

         17  individual egos above the community's right to

         18  control and shape WBAI.

         19                 Utrice Leid, as the agent of a

         20  reactionary segment of the Pacifica National Board

         21  is now at the helm.

         22                 Those of us who oppose the takeover

         23  of WBAI, referred to the actions of December 22nd,

         24  as the Christmas coup.

         25                 Today you may hear from this small
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          2  band of collaborators of the actions they were

          3  involved with do not constitute a coup, but they

          4  were involved in a counter coup. The face is that

          5  this was an illegal act in contravention to WBAI's

          6  bylaws which state clearly the procedures that must

          7  be followed in determination of a station manager.

          8                 They knowingly and willingly violated

          9  those procedures for personal gain. They also

         10  ignored the wishes of the overwhelming majority of

         11  the paid and unpaid staff who requested that we

         12  organize some peaceful opposition to a Pacifica

         13  takeover.

         14                 Committees had been set up and a

         15  peaceful plan was in process. They also denied the

         16  community as per the procedures laid out in the

         17  bylaws an opportunity to participate in this

         18  process.

         19                 Today Leid plays a dual role at the

         20  station. She is the interim station manager and the

         21  program director, the aimless meanderings of some of

         22  the newly installed programs, the purging of the

         23  most political show and their producers, the

         24  imposition of a gag rule, which she selectively

         25  applies to stifle dissent, the vilification of
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          2  anyone who opposes her regime are tools that

          3  Pacifica has successfully employed in the devolution

          4  of three of the five Pacifica stations.

          5                 Very few people believed their

          6  proclamation at that time, at the time it was

          7  stated, however, maybe now it's clear.

          8                 Anything that this Council can do to

          9  help resolve this situation will be greatly

         10  appreciated.

         11                 Not only have those of us who worked

         12  at the station been victimized, but so have the

         13  listeners.

         14                 The path that these usurpers is

         15  contrary to the mission and legacy of Pacifica and

         16  WBAI. They have sanctioned and in some instances

         17  monetarily rewarded producers who have made public

         18  personal attacks on former employees.

         19                 They have fabricated scenarios that

         20  characterize those in opposition to them as violent.

         21  As a local advisory board's denied attempt to hold

         22  its regular monthly meeting at the station, the

         23  chief of New York City's Intelligence Department was

         24  in attendance.

         25                 This is an indication of how this is
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          2  spinning out of control.

          3                 Once again, we appreciate your

          4  concern, and hope that you will raise your voice in

          5  opposition to this hostile takeover.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

          7                 Mr. White, could you just share with

          8  me, if you know, how many women and minorities are

          9  employed at WBAI?

         10                 MR. WHITE: I don't have the exact

         11  figure, but the goal over the past Administration

         12  was to make sure that we had a balance of gender, as

         13  well as ethnic balance, that we brought in, took

         14  into consideration that male and female need to

         15  participate in decision-making, as well as all of

         16  the communities that we broadcast to need to be

         17  represented.

         18                 Can I just say one thing?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: No. I let you stay

         20  over three minutes.

         21                 Go head, quick.

         22                 MR. WHITE: You raised a question

         23  about whether or not the station could be sold, and

         24  the two gentlemen who were obviously hired this

         25  morning said the station wasn't going to do that.
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          2  But one of the Board members is trying to attempt to

          3  get new bylaws passed that will allow not only the

          4  station to be sold, but Board members to be

          5  monetarily compensated in the event of the sale.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Father Lawrence

          7  Lucas, please, is the Chaplain of Rikers Island

          8  Institution.

          9                 Do you have a copy of your statement?

         10                 FATHER LUCAS: Unfortunately, I do

         11  not.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Okay.

         13                 Can you adhere to three minutes,

         14  please, Father?

         15                 FATHER LUCAS: I'll give it a good

         16  shot.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Okay. Let's pray

         18  that you do.

         19                 FATHER LUCAS: Ready?

         20                 Good morning. I'm Father Lawrence

         21  Lucas, I'm a priest of the Roman Catholic

         22  Archdiocese in New York for about 42 years. I'm a

         23  community activist at this time, an Administrative

         24  Chaplain for Catholic Affairs in the New York City

         25  Department of Correction.
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          2                 More germane to what we're here today

          3  is that I've been a supporter, a listener, and a

          4  guest on many of the WBAI programs in the past, have

          5  been a financial supporter for over 15, 20 years,

          6  and at this particular junction I will not

          7  contribute a penny to WBAI, simply because of the

          8  discrepancy of being told that it's free speech

          9  radio and it's community-owned radio. We know by now

         10  that it has nothing to do with free speech but a gag

         11  rule and gag orders, and anybody who do not comply,

         12  they are banned and fired. And as far as being

         13  community, as community sponsored and owned during

         14  fund-raising time, outside of fund-raising time,

         15  we're told that we have nothing to say in regard to

         16  personnel and regard to programming and regard to

         17  anything else that the station does.

         18                 I want to specifically address the

         19  question of racism that was unfortunately raised.

         20  WBAI has been the most diverse station that one can

         21  find in this whole country, not only in terms of

         22  ethnicity but in terms of gender. To raise the issue

         23  as it had been done, that this is a question of a

         24  black female being in charge remind me of the

         25  African Chieftains who were selling their brothers
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          2  and sisters on the train in slavery when they were

          3  objected to respond, this is an opposition to black

          4  people being in charge.

          5                 This has nothing to do with race, it

          6  has to do with the sell out of somebody allegedly

          7  who was community involved, allegedly a woman of

          8  color, to the Board of Pacifica, which pays more

          9  money.

         10                 The other issue that I want to -- is

         11  the great loss of programming that has taken place.

         12  In regard to such tremendous programs like Wake-Up

         13  Call in the morning, we now have what passes for

         14  spirituality, namely pabulum in terms of

         15  spirituality, that while divorced from organized

         16  religion is also divorced from truth and integrity.

         17                 The defamation of people's character

         18  without given the chance to respond, and if not

         19  directly, by innuendo, is a typical way in which

         20  totalitarian operate, and on these free issues, and

         21  the issues of WBAI as free speech in community, it

         22  doesn't exist. The issue of racism is as phony as

         23  one can imagine. The loss of great programs like

         24  Wake-Up Call and All Lewis, for whom I was a guest

         25  on his program many times, because he says things
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          2  that is not appropriate to the aim, and finally, the

          3  vilification and diminution of the staff, are

          4  something that we hope that this Council, and we

          5  appreciate that you're having this hearing, will

          6  tend to and speak to, not only today, but in the

          7  future.

          8                 I thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you very

         10  much, Father. God forbid we impose a time limit on

         11  you.

         12                 Thank you so much.

         13                 Leslie Cagan. You're not a person of

         14  the cloth, three minutes.

         15                 MS. CAGAN: Yes, I have comments, but

         16  I'm actually editing them, so what I say will be a

         17  little different.

         18                 My name is Leslie Cagan, and I speak

         19  today as a member of the National Board of the

         20  Pacifica Foundation.

         21                 For more than 40 years, WBAI has been

         22  one of the five stations around the country that

         23  make up Pacifica.

         24                 Pacifica is a unique institution.

         25  There is no other free speech, community-based,
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          2  corporate free network in this nation.

          3                 As the nationwide control of the mass

          4  media is concentrated in fewer hands, the danger of

          5  losing this precious resource grows daily.

          6                 I also speak as a long-time social

          7  change organizer who has over the years relied on

          8  WBAI. Organizations throughout the City, which have

          9  worked on every issue from housing to open spaces,

         10  from public education to voter education, from

         11  lesbian and gay rights to the rights of immigrants,

         12  know that WBAI was often the only vehicle to get

         13  their information to tens of thousands of New

         14  Yorkers. And I am here today as a decades long

         15  listener of WBAI.

         16                 There are those today who argue that

         17  WBAI is merely going through the periodic changes

         18  that any community-based radio station experiences.

         19  I reject that point of view and believe the station

         20  is in the midst of a serious crisis, the outcome of

         21  which will determine what the station sounds like

         22  for years to come.

         23                 I want to place the WBAI situation in

         24  the context of other changes throughout the Pacifica

         25  Network.
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          2                 Over the past several years, two

          3  simultaneous dynamics have been unfolding. The first

          4  is the dramatic shift in programming in place

          5  already at two of the Pacifica stations. In

          6  Washington, D.C. and Houston, Texas those stations

          7  are virtually today all music, with the bear minimum

          8  of news and public affairs programming.

          9                 Second is the new organizational

         10  style that is taking control of Pacifica.

         11  Historically, the strength of Pacifica grew out of

         12  its respect for the autonomy of the five stations.

         13  Linked by a shared view of the need to play an

         14  active role in supporting progressive social change

         15  and peace movements, each of the five stations

         16  developed its own programming and relationship with

         17  the community it served.

         18                 But all of that is being undermined

         19  by those now in control of the National Board and

         20  national staff. Yes, I am on the National Board, but

         21  I and four others strongly object to the direction

         22  those in control are taking Pacifica. The appalling

         23  lack of any democratic process in the organization

         24  is only matched by the horrendous decisions which

         25  are being made. As a Board member from New York, I
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          2  was not informed of WBAI's station manager was going

          3  to be removed and removed without consultation or

          4  input from producers, the local advisory board or

          5  listeners.

          6                 Beyond that, those presently

          7  controlling Pacifica regularly violate our bylaws,

          8  refuse to share information with Board members, let

          9  alone listeners and producers, and have not shared

         10  financial information.

         11                 Those now in control come out of and

         12  represent corporate interests which run counter to

         13  Pacifica's mission.

         14                 What's at stake here is much more

         15  than internal dispute of one of scores of media

         16  outlets. What's at stake is whether or not New York

         17  will continue to have a radio station that is more

         18  concerned about serving the many communities of our

         19  City than with turning a profit, a radio station

         20  committed to free speech and not the almighty

         21  dollar.

         22                 I urge you to support this resolution

         23  and bring it before the full City Council and to use

         24  your power of influence as leaders from many

         25  different constituencies in this City to help
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          2  restore WBAI to the station that so many of us have

          3  grown to depend on.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Questions from

          6  Council Member Quinn.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          8                 Leslie, you know, were these matters

          9  regarding the New York station on the agendas of the

         10  National Foundation? I mean, I don't know exactly

         11  what the procedures are, but I assume that would be

         12  the kind of a thing that would be on an agenda that

         13  would be sent out before a meeting and then

         14  discussed at a meeting.

         15                 MS. CAGAN: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Can you just

         17  give me a little sense of what transpires?

         18                 MS. CAGAN: Yes. One would normally

         19  assume that this is how a Board functions, and not

         20  only were the matters at WBAI not placed on the

         21  agenda, we had to fight at the last meeting to get

         22  them included on the agenda. That is, those of us

         23  who consider ourselves dissident Board members, have

         24  struggled both before the meeting and literally at

         25  the beginning of the meeting to ensure that these
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          2  issues will be put on.

          3                 I'm talking about the last National

          4  Board meeting, which was in March of this year,

          5  which is already several months after the crisis had

          6  begun.

          7                 There is an appalling lack of

          8  information from the national leadership, and I use

          9  that word in quotes, and today you heard somebody,

         10  one of the young men here say that there are plans

         11  to consider buying more stations, there has been no

         12  discussion in the National Board about this. So,

         13  some people are obviously in control about this

         14  situation and functioning behind closed doors, not

         15  sharing information again not only with the National

         16  Board members, but the people who work at these

         17  stations and here in New York people who produce

         18  shows, both paid and non-paid producers, as well as

         19  listeners, people who contribute the overwhelming

         20  majority income that make it possible to run the

         21  stations.

         22                 No, there is no information shared.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And when you

         24  say the bylaws had been violated, can you just

         25  expand on that a little bit?
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          2                 MS. CAGAN: Well, there is, first of

          3  all, a lot of confusion in the bylaws, and with any

          4  sort of bylaws, who reads them, you know, interprets

          5  them in different ways, but one of the founding

          6  principals, and one of the most important bylaw

          7  realities has been the relationship between the

          8  local advisory board and the National Board, and for

          9  most of the life of the Pacifica Foundation, the

         10  overwhelming majority of people on the National

         11  Board came from the local advisory boards. That was

         12  overturned, that was changed two years ago, and now

         13  everybody on the National Board is selected by the

         14  people presently on it. In other words, they do not

         15  come as the local advisory board anymore.

         16                 There is no consultation with the

         17  local advisory boards, which were put together to

         18  represent the interests of the listeners. There is

         19  no input or no process that allows for consultation

         20  or input from producers, from local station

         21  management people, all of these have been

         22  incorporated into the bylaws over the years.

         23                 And there is an attempt, as Mr. White

         24  referred, to change the bylaws and put even greater

         25  authority in the hands of smaller and smaller
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          2  numbers of people.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          4                 MS. CAGAN: Okay, thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you, Ms.

          6  Cagan.

          7                 We will now hear from Larry Adams.

          8  Watch that clock, Larry.

          9                 MR. ADAMS: Yes, Ma'am.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Before we begin,

         11  I'd also like to draw your attention to the arrival

         12  of Council Member Larry Warden from the Bronx, the

         13  mainland, as I am. Who is late, and I will tell you,

         14  first I need to know, Larry, are you okay? I heard

         15  you were in a fender-bender, a little accident; are

         16  you okay?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Fine.

         19                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: How's the car?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: I'm not concerned

         21  about the car.  We can always replace the car,

         22  right? Our health is more important, trust me.

         23                 Larry Adams, thank you.

         24                 MR. ADAMS: Thank you.

         25                 My name is Larry Adams. I'm the
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          2  President of National Postal Mail Handlers Union,

          3  Local 300, representing 7,000 postal workers in the

          4  tristate area.

          5                 I'm one of the subscribers of the

          6  WBAI long time, who will be withholding my

          7  contribution until the union busters and their

          8  agents at WBAI are removed from the Pacifica Board

          9  and the local station.

         10                 As an affiliate of the New York City

         11  Central Labor Council, I appreciate this opportunity

         12  to share with the Subcommittee and the Council the

         13  view of the organized labor by introducing the

         14  resolution that has been adopted unanimously by the

         15  Executive Board of the CRC, and it is in support of

         16  the fired and banned WBAI workers.

         17                 Whereas: The Pacifica Radio has been

         18  the voice of progressive community based radio in

         19  the United States for over 50 years; and

         20                 Whereas: The WBAI-FM for over 40

         21  years has been a voice of community activism in the

         22  New York metropolitan area; and

         23                 Whereas: Over the holiday weekend of

         24  December 22 to 25, 2000, Pacifica Foundation, owners

         25  of WBAI-FM New York City, and four other radio
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          2  stations in the United States fired and banned

          3  various members of UE Local 404 without just cause

          4  and without the due process guaranteed them in the

          5  existing collective bargaining agreement between the

          6  parties; and

          7                 Whereas: Over the aforementioned

          8  holiday weekend the Pacifica Foundation changed the

          9  locks on the doors of the station, and as restricted

         10  access to WBAI-FM, New York's listener sponsored

         11  community radio station; and

         12                 Whereas: Precious dollars raised from

         13  listeners are being used by the Pacifica Foundation

         14  to engage the services of union busting consultants

         15  and law firms such as Epstein, Becker and Green; and

         16                 Whereas: Amy Goodman, a member of

         17  AFTRA and UE local 404, the host of the award

         18  winning Pacifica Radio program, "Democracy Now" has

         19  been summarily banned in violation of the UE

         20  contract from all local programming by WBAI

         21  management; and

         22                 Whereas: The Pacifica Foundation and

         23  WBAI management have instituted a gag rule barring

         24  on air discussion with the listeners of the on-going

         25  crisis at Pacifica Radio; and
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          2                 Whereas: The said gag rule has been

          3  selectively enforced only against those who oppose

          4  the views of the Pacifica Foundation and WBAI

          5  management; and

          6                 Whereas: WBAI management interrupted

          7  and threw off the air the Honorable Major Owens,

          8  member of Congress, while being interviewed by Ken

          9  Nash regarding the crisis at Pacifica Radio; and

         10                 Whereas: Ken Nash, a member of DC 37,

         11  AFSCME and Mimi Rosenberg, a member of the

         12  International Union, UAW, who are both members of UE

         13  Local 404 at WBAI-FM and co-producers and hosts of

         14  the long running "Building Bridges: Your Community

         15  and Labor Report," have been banned from WBAI

         16  airwaves; and

         17                 Whereas:"Building Bridges: Your

         18  Community and Labor Report," WBAI's only regular

         19  labor oriented program has been cancelled; and

         20                 Whereas: Free speech, the voice of

         21  labor, working men and women and progressive

         22  politics must not be squelched;

         23                 Be it Resolved, that the New York

         24  City Central Labor Council, calls on the Pacifica

         25  Foundation and WBAI management to:
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          2                 1. Rehire the fired members of UE

          3  Local 404;

          4                 2. Lift the banning of all other

          5  members of UE Local 404;

          6                 3. Stop wasting precious listener

          7  money on union busting consultants and attorneys;

          8                 4. Restore "Building Bridges: Your

          9  Community and Labor Report," with producers and

         10  hosts Ken Nash and Mimi Rosenberg; and

         11                 5. Lift the gag rule which stifles

         12  free speech and freedom of expression;

         13                 And the Council endorsed the April

         14  28th march across the bridge to WBAI's station.

         15                 I would add that my local union

         16  adopted this similar resolution that also added we

         17  would support ongoing efforts.

         18                 And I would add one more point:

         19  Contrary to the lie that's being told by the current

         20  management, I, too, was cut off the air on March 5th

         21  when Major Owens was cut off the air. And they say

         22  that there was some technical glitch, but the

         23  engineer of the program specifically identified me,

         24  identified myself, and then I was cut off the air,

         25  before I had a chance to say anything.
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          2                 So, if it was allegedly to promote

          3  some pursuit of truth as opposed to falsehood, I

          4  never got a chance to say either and was cut off the

          5  air.

          6                 Thank you for the opportunity. And

          7  accordingly, I would urge the Council to adopt the

          8  resolution.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

         10                 The next speaker, Anne Emerman.

         11                 Hi, Anne, we'll wait. And please

         12  state who you are representing.

         13                 MS. EMERMAN: Good morning. I'm

         14  actually representing two organizations, so to

         15  speak, Disabled In Action of Metropolitan New York,

         16  and I'm also a member of the local advisory board

         17  for the last four years and an officer, and I do

         18  have some materials on the local advisory board.

         19                 Let me say that Disabled In Action

         20  applauds the City Council and its resolution and we

         21  urge you to pass it.

         22                 We are very, very concerned, and we

         23  condemn the censorship of political speech, the gag

         24  rule, imposed by programmers by our interim station

         25  manager. And all those journalists who had the
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          2  judgment and the integrity to present all points of

          3  view on matters of political and policy issues, are

          4  now among the banned and the fired, and those have

          5  been mainly women and people of color.

          6                 Those that have not yet been removed

          7  are under constant harassment and threat.

          8                 The local advisory board is required

          9  by the Federal Communications Commission and the

         10  Corporation of Public Broadcasting.  We were created

         11  at WBAI about 20 years ago, and have always met at

         12  the station.

         13                 We are made up of subscribers,

         14  listeners, we are volunteers, and we represent

         15  mostly people who are grassroots leaders in their

         16  communities, and I have to say the communities

         17  represented are mainly communities that are

         18  marginalized and do not have access to mainstream

         19  media, Disabled In Action being one of them, and

         20  disability issues are not discussed very much

         21  anywhere else in the media. They are discussed on

         22  WBAI, our issues are sexy enough to be put on by the

         23  station, and our issues are important issues, often

         24  basic civil rights issues.

         25                 I have to say. As a member of the
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          2  local advisory board, have been meeting at the

          3  station. The Board, interestingly enough, and the

          4  time that I've been on it, found this new space, a

          5  Committee on the Board, space and text, spent many a

          6  morning, from seven to nine, dredging through the

          7  City looking for space with a real estate person in

          8  expertise in non-for-profit organizations, and based

          9  on the space they worked to raise $250,000, they got

         10  celebrities, they did house parties, Ossie Davis and

         11  Ruby Dee were participating in that. We raised

         12  250,000, also some of our people wrote grants. We

         13  worked with the architect, the staff, the National

         14  Board, the Executive Director, helped create a space

         15  that is both functional and beautiful, and since

         16  January we have not been permitted to meet at the

         17  station.

         18                 Our meeting on January 23rd we were

         19  kept in the hallway for two and a half hours, or we

         20  could have listeners, we can't have listeners, two

         21  listeners, one listener, and eventually two and a

         22  half hours later sitting outside the door, seven,

         23  nine people were arrested, two of them local

         24  advisory board members.

         25                 When we tried to meet again at the
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          2  station, with listeners, a small group of listeners,

          3  we were kept outside, the Intelligence Division of

          4  the Police Department was very present. We stood in

          5  the wind and the rain having a vigil, noting the

          6  death of free speech at WBAI.

          7                 We will try again on May 22nd, with a

          8  small group of listeners, and we are required to

          9  have listeners present, there is to be a public

         10  session where listeners can speak, and we are the

         11  go-between between the management, the staff and the

         12  listeners to see if their cultural and educational

         13  needs are being met by the programming.

         14                 We are now considered the enemy. We

         15  have been accused of thinking about taking over the

         16  station, hijacking it, destroying equipment, and

         17  assaulting the staff on the station. We are

         18  builders, not destroyers. I personally have been

         19  listening and a subscriber since 1969. My husband

         20  since '62, I believe, when the station was on 39th

         21  Street, and this is -- I consider WBAI to be

         22  reporting information and issues where there is

         23  silence, they put the light on and give voice to the

         24  people in our City and our state and country who are

         25  silenced.
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          2                 So, I would urge and applaud the City

          3  Council to pass this resolution.

          4                 I just want to say, Mimi -- Mimi was

          5  reporting actually that very day your program was --

          6  she was interviewing a national disability leader

          7  who had exposed one of the National Board, Pacifica

          8  National Board members, Ken Ford, to be specific,

          9  whose a chief lobbyist in Washington, D.C. for the

         10  National Association of Home Builders Association,

         11  and who has in his organization successfully

         12  defeated a concept of building homes where people

         13  can age in place, that would have universal design

         14  and as people age they can still function in their

         15  home in community. After that program, she was

         16  pulled off the air, dismissed, and that is the

         17  voices we don't want silenced and they are being

         18  silenced.

         19                 Thank you for your support, and we

         20  urge you to pass this.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Ann Coglan. Anthony

         22  Mackall. Carolyn Birden. Carolyn? Okay, is that

         23  Anthony Mackall?

         24                 MR. MACKALL: Mackall.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Mackall. Do you
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          2  have a statement, Mr. Mackall?

          3                 MR. MACKALL: Yes, I do. I'm trying to

          4  -- yes, I do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Okay. Do you have

          6  copies for us?

          7                 MR. MACKALL: No, I don't. Sorry.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Okay, we can leave

          9  it so we can have copies made.

         10                 Mr. Mackall, you know why I give

         11  people extra time. My young lady that left before

         12  you, Anne Emerman, certainly deserved extra time for

         13  having made the effort, as a disabled person, to be

         14  here. You don't look disabled to me, so three

         15  minutes. Thank you.

         16                 MR. MACKALL: I will just say, Anne is

         17  certainly not disabled.

         18                 I'm making some edited comments

         19  because Mr. Kaufmann, who represents the Pacifica

         20  Campaign, had some information to share with us

         21  today regarding the Board members, members of the

         22  Board, so I will not be as detailed as he will, but

         23  I hope to give you some context.

         24                 My name is E. Anthony Mackall,

         25  Director of Operations for Seeds, Inc., a
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          2  not-for-profit community-based organization working

          3  in West Africa, Brooklyn, Manhattan, and soon

          4  Southern Africa, on literacy and development.

          5                 I'm also a 23-year BAI listener and

          6  an active member of the movement to return a now

          7  derailed Pacifica Foundation and network, including

          8  WBAI to its historic mission of providing a

          9  progressive platform on the Nation's airwaves.

         10                 Toward that end, I'm here today to

         11  call on the City Council to unanimously support City

         12  Council Resolution 1723.

         13                 My affiliations include Concerned

         14  Friends of WBAI, the Pacifica Campaign, WBAI local

         15  advisory board and CPR, which is the Community for

         16  Progressive Radio. I'm a volunteer with all of them.

         17                 While my work informs my perspective,

         18  all of that work informs it, I am speaking today as

         19  a member of CPR. Organized during this struggle, CPR

         20  is an independent advocacy group for communities of

         21  color. We are working to inform, mobilize and help

         22  empower our communities in their struggle for

         23  greater access to progressive media.

         24                 I have investigated the behavior and

         25  policies of the Pacifica Foundation's Board of
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          2  Directors over the last several years, and we have

          3  found it to be atrocious.

          4                 I am not only outraged by what we

          5  have found, but also, like so many others here today

          6  I am determined to reverse their anti-democratic,

          7  highly destructive agenda.

          8                 Okay, former Chairperson Mary Francis

          9  Berry consolidated a top down, non-democratic

         10  operation during her reign. The clique she installed

         11  on the Pacifica National Board has engulfed the

         12  network in crises for years. Now under new

         13  Chairperson David Acosta, Pacifica continues its

         14  tierney of the local stations, and its flight from

         15  socially relevant politically progressive

         16  programming.

         17                 In Houston, KPFT and in DC, WPFW, the

         18  cliques hand-picked agents have more formerly

         19  empowering culturally diverse stations into mostly

         20  music venues with a lot of externally produced

         21  packaged programs.

         22                 The clique has damaged longstanding,

         23  priceless community relationships, and no longer

         24  seeks to provide the kind of grassroots involvement.

         25                 There have been numerous lawsuits,
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          2  some by Board members, listeners as well, and the

          3  Pacifica Christmas coup resistance is still raging.

          4                 David Acosta, John Murdock, Michael

          5  Palmer, B. Richard Ellis, Ken Ford of the National

          6  Home Builders Association and Andrea Sisco, a local

          7  advisory, former local advisory board member, just

          8  to name four, have each in their own ways walked

          9  away from their extremely important responsibility

         10  as members of the Pacifica Board.

         11                 In the case of Murdock, he has

         12  attempted to structure policies and bylaws that will

         13  allow the sale of the station for personal gain by

         14  members.

         15                 In addition, Michael Palmer has

         16  consistently supported what has been called this

         17  mostly music format, calling WBAI's political

         18  efforts irrelevant.

         19                 Ken Ford of the National Home

         20  Builders Association, and Andrew Sisco have strongly

         21  supported these policies. At the local level here in

         22  New York we have called on Andrea Sisco to refuse

         23  when she was involved in the effort to make the

         24  bylaws less and less responsive to local

         25  involvement, and more a part of self-selection. As a
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          2  result, the Community for Progressive Radio has

          3  sponsored picketts at her home, calling on her to

          4  end her involvement on the Board and resign, and

          5  we've also sponsored picketts at Utrice Leid, the

          6  interim station manager's home.

          7                 We hope that over the next several

          8  months, if not sooner, the struggle that we are

          9  waging will be successful. We thank you for your

         10  time today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

         12                 At this time I'd like to introduce

         13  also City Council Member Phil Reed who has -- I'm

         14  sorry, Bill Perkins, who has joined us. Thank you.

         15                 Carol Birden. Carol, are you here?

         16                 And after Carol we will hear from

         17  Miguel Maldonado and Silvia Arana.

         18                 Do you have a statement?

         19                 MS. BIRDEN: Yes, I do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: That's not a book

         21  you bought, right?

         22                 MS. BIRDEN: No, it's nine copies.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Oh, okay. You

         24  scared the heck out of me.

         25                 MS. BIRDEN: I talk fast.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Okay.

          3                 MS. BIRDEN: Thank you for the

          4  opportunity to be here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Could you

          6  capitalize this?

          7                 MS. BIRDEN: Excuse me?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Could you

          9  capitalize this, Carol?

         10                 MS. BIRDEN: I certainly will.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you so much.

         12                 MS. BIRDEN: It's only three pages,

         13  four, five.

         14                 I thank you for the opportunity to be

         15  here. I am wearing three hats today. I am here as a

         16  listener, listener/supporter, an educator and a

         17  plaintiff in one of the lawsuits against BAI.

         18                 I have listened to BAI, and I have to

         19  put this in some context. In 1976 --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Speak into the

         21  mike.

         22                 MS. BIRDEN: I moved back into

         23  Manhattan in 1976, and when three mile island broke,

         24  I was living on the Upper West Side, along in the

         25  house with a toddler and an infant, and I spent
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          2  three days glued to WBAI because there was nobody

          3  else telling us what was happening on three mile

          4  island. We were 12 miles, the Upper West Side was 12

          5  miles down wind -- 12 hours, excuse me, downwind

          6  from three mile island, and we waited. And I was a

          7  fan immediately and have counted on BAI for many

          8  other kinds of information, not just for my physical

          9  well-being, and I find it one of the invaluable

         10  resources as a teacher. I've been teaching for 31

         11  years at a community college, where I'm the

         12  Assistant Department Head for College Writing, and I

         13  count on BAI to educate me, as well as my students,

         14  I depend on it terribly.

         15                 So, it was quite natural for me to

         16  join and become a plaintiff in one of the lawsuits.

         17                 Now, there are three lawsuits against

         18  WBAI, with the fourth in process, and a few weeks

         19  ago we found out that the judge in the case had

         20  given permission for all three suits to be joined,

         21  and May 15th the motions will be heard in Alameda

         22  County Superior Court, BAI is incorporated, Pacifica

         23  is incorporated in California. On the request for

         24  preliminary injunction, and to disqualify the

         25  Board's lawfirm of Epstein, Becker and Green,
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          2  because the partner sits on the Board which is a

          3  conflict.

          4                 I will skip page three, which is a

          5  summary of what the lawsuits are about, and the

          6  things that people have been talking about today and

          7  a great many issues.

          8                 The listeners lawsuit seeks the most

          9  comprehensive relief of the three suits, and in

         10  brief, we're suing for breach of charitable trust,

         11  or breach of the charitable purposes of Pacifica,

         12  and to remove the illegally seated directors.

         13                 Since the lockout at KPFA in Berkely

         14  in 1999, 6,000 listeners have signed declarations to

         15  the court affirming their status as listener

         16  supporters.

         17                 We've been granted status as what are

         18  called milators, which gives us rather new status,

         19  it's an unusual situation, the Attorney General has

         20  given us permission to sue essentially in his name

         21  in California.

         22                 So, it's a remarkable suit, and I'm

         23  happy to see that you are thinking about joining the

         24  efforts.

         25                 I would just like to read a line from
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          2  Alice Walker, with which Carol Spooner always closes

          3  her speeches. She would have been here today if she

          4  could have. This is something that is precious, this

          5  is something that is ours, this is something that we

          6  paid for, and this is something that we believe in,

          7  and this is something that we intend to keep.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: She had to be a

         10  teacher, look how she finished on time. Thank you.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 She knew what she was going to say.

         13  Thank you, again.

         14                 Our next speaker is  Miguel

         15  Maldonado. And is Silvia Arana here? Okay, sit down

         16  so we can save time please. Three minutes, okay?

         17                 MR. MALDONADO: My name is Miguel

         18  Maldonado, and I'm an advocate for immigrant and I

         19  am an immigrant myself from the Dominican Republic.

         20                 In 1996 I have the honor to be the

         21  main organizer for the first march for immigrants

         22  and poor people in Washington, D.C., where more than

         23  125,000 immigrants demand the respect for the human

         24  rights.

         25                 At the present moment, I am the
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          2  Chairperson of the local advisory board, the LAB of

          3  WBAI.

          4                 My relation with WBAI started in 1980

          5  as a listener, when I was working in the sweatshop

          6  industry in New York City as a machine operator.

          7                 Later, the International Garment

          8  Workers Union hired me as an organizer. This

          9  position gave me the opportunity to be interviewed

         10  in a show on WBAI about labor and community

         11  organizing, Building Bridges, where I have a chance

         12  to explain the condition under which the brothers

         13  and sisters were working in the garment industry.

         14                 In 1996, Pacifico Radio conducted a

         15  four-hour live broadcast on the march of immigrant

         16  and poor in Washington, D.C. In 1998 I was

         17  recommended by Mario Morejo, to become a member of

         18  the local advisory board for WBAI, in representation

         19  of the immigrant community. And on March 7th, 2001,

         20  I was elected chair of the Local Advisory Board.

         21                 I had to mention that when I

         22  mentioned my name on call on WBAI, I have been

         23  censored all the time. The last time that happened

         24  on a show called WBAI morning show, which is

         25  produced by Santiago Nieves, and he was interviewing

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            72

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  Utrice Leid, the interim general manager of WBAI,

          3  David Acosta, the Chairman of Pacifica Board, and

          4  Bessie Wash, the Executive Director of WBAI.

          5                 Let me express to you my concern as a

          6  listener. As a member of WBAI and as a Chairperson

          7  of WBAI LAB, on December 22nd, the middle of the

          8  night, the Pacifico Board made drastic changes at

          9  WBAI in collaboration with the WBAI producer Utrice

         10  Leid, but without any participation by the local

         11  structure of the WBAI local advisory board, to paid

         12  and unpaid staff, union or WBAI member or listeners.

         13                 My 15 years working as an organizer

         14  have given me the opportunity to know most of the

         15  brothers and sisters working around the barriers

         16  issues that affect the immigrant community in the US

         17  and also those that affect other community issues as

         18  a sweatshop in New York and abroad, police

         19  brutality, housing imprisonment, deprivatization of

         20  education, union organizing drives, environmental

         21  problems in communities of color.

         22                 You may hear those issues in the

         23  evening news for one or two minutes, but you don't

         24  hear the interview in those shows with activists who

         25  can educate the population about what is happening
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          2  around these issues.

          3                 For example, the privatization of

          4  public schools in Houston, and Washington Heights,

          5  where parents successfully fought privatization in

          6  school of the well-meaning majority.

          7                 You didn't hear about the abuses on

          8  Long Island about the immigrant community.

          9                 You don't hear Richie Perez and

         10  Panama Alva (phonetic) talking about police

         11  brutality, but through WBAI more than ten years ago

         12  those two brothers brought national attention to

         13  police abuse, and that was because of WBAI and

         14  Pacifica Radio. Not to mention the case of Anthony

         15  Biez, whose mother Ida Biez, was able to come to

         16  WBAI for a forum to get justice for her son who was

         17  killed by police one night when he was playing

         18  football near his home. The stories broadcast on

         19  WBAI about police brutality brought nationwide

         20  attention to police abuses in New York, and put

         21  pressure on the Mayor, Rudy Giuliani. And this way

         22  WBAI saved the lives of people like me, who are

         23  fighting for justice, could be killed by police on

         24  the streets of New York City.

         25                 We call upon you to support
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          2  Resolution 1723 presented here by the Concerned

          3  Friends of WBAI, which call for immediate

          4  reinstatement of all fired staff, the immediate and

          5  permanent lifting of all bans, which have kept the

          6  staff members and listeners out of the station, all

          7  off the air, a commitment not to gab rule, the

          8  removal of security guards, the duration of regular

          9  programming and the end of all censorship.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Silvia Arana.

         12                 Silvia.

         13                 And could we please have Aniruddha

         14  Das. Please join us and this way we're saving time.

         15                 Silvia.

         16                 MS. ARANA: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

         18                 MS. ARANA: My name is Silvia Arana, I

         19  am a member of Concerned Friends of WBAI. I am an

         20  editor of bilingual text books for Spanish-speaking

         21  children. I'm the mother of two children in New York

         22  City public schools.

         23                 I have been a listener of WBAI for

         24  more than five years. I have enjoyed programs by

         25  such dedicated and talented broadcasters as Amy
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          2  Goodman, Juan Gonzalez, Mimi Rosenberg, Bernard

          3  White and Al Lewis. That is until last December when

          4  the Pacifica Board took over the WBAI station.

          5                 Several of my favorite hosts and

          6  producers have been partly or fully removed from the

          7  air.

          8                 I'm highly disappointed with the

          9  drastic shift. I am not going to accept these

         10  changes. I am not alone. I am a member of Concerned

         11  Friends of WBAI, which is a broad, diverse national

         12  fight-back movement composed of listeners,

         13  producers, local board members and dissident

         14  national board members.

         15                 Concerned friends of WBAI was formed

         16  in October 1999, and it's growing day by day. There

         17  are six affiliated branches in addition to the New

         18  York City branch.

         19                 They are New Jersey, Long Island,

         20  Westchester, Rockland, Mid-Hudson and Connecticut.

         21  In the New York branch, our committees include

         22  action, outreach, coordinating, finance,

         23  fundraising, media, election and research.

         24                 There have been eight demonstrations

         25  organized by Concerned Friends. The most recent
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          2  action on Saturday, April 28th, drew 300 people --

          3  1,300 people, I'm sorry -- who marched across the

          4  Brooklyn Bridge and rallied upside the station at

          5  120 Wall Street. It had the support of numerous

          6  labor and community groups, such as the New York

          7  Central Labor Council.

          8                 We seek to restore free speech and

          9  labor sites at WBAI. We demand the return of the

         10  station to community control and the resignation of

         11  Pacifica National Board members who have betrayed

         12  the progressive mission of the listeners supported

         13  station network. We demand the resignation of the

         14  interim manager Utrice Leid. We agree with Juan

         15  Gonzalez' statement, the fight over Pacifica's

         16  future has become one of the most important

         17  movements for media, democracy in US history. We

         18  cannot afford to lose.

         19                 Therefore, I wish to state my

         20  unequivocal support for Resolution 1723, in order to

         21  preserve radio station WBAI as the listener sponsor

         22  entity, free of censorship.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Aniruddha Das. Did

         25  I pronounce that correctly? Thank you.
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          2                 MR. DAS: Thank you. I am Aniruddha

          3  Das, host of Asia Pacific Forum, one of what used to

          4  be two shows covering the broad range of Asian and

          5  Asian-American culture and politics on WBAI, but I

          6  will come back to that in just a minute.

          7                 I'm an unpaid producer at WBAI. In my

          8  other life, I'm a research scientist at Columbia

          9  University. I have now been at the radio station as

         10  an unpaid producer for more than three years,

         11  because I believe that it provides an extremely

         12  important voice to diverse and otherwise

         13  unrepresented groups in this City, a voice that is

         14  currently under threat of being silenced.

         15                 In the City's Asian community, which

         16  has grown tremendously in the last decade, WBAI puts

         17  us in a unique position to explore sensitive and

         18  complex issues. We at Asia Pacific Forum brought to

         19  WBAI the strong ties that we already had to a number

         20  of progressive Asian community groups in the City.

         21  Thus, we provide the community a regular on-air

         22  forum to start important initiatives and can give

         23  critical coverage to relevant subjects.

         24                 Our program, a weekly program, brings

         25  to the Asian population in New York, the same
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          2  coverage and service that other programs in WBAI

          3  have traditionally brought to the Latino, Jewish,

          4  Lesbian, Gay and other groups in this City.

          5                 And now all of this programming is on

          6  the threat, both because of local changes and of

          7  policies supported by the Pacifica National Board.

          8                 Locally, we now have an extremely

          9  capricious and selective use of a "gag" rule against

         10  on-air discussion of "internal" matters coupled with

         11  a selective intimidation of individual producers.

         12                 As I said earlier, we had a second

         13  program at WBAI dealing with Asian issues. A sister

         14  programmer, Deepa Fernandes, on Behind the News, had

         15  a weekly hard-hitting program that complemented our

         16  own, covering important international news from the

         17  home countries of Asians living in New York.

         18                 Deepa was thrown off the air

         19  summarily last month shortly after she had City

         20  Councilperson Margarita Lopez as a guest, when the

         21  Councilperson made a few statements critical of WBAI

         22  management.

         23                 On the other hand, producers who are

         24  pro-management routinely go on air to talk of

         25  station issues and even to revile their fellow
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          2  producers, with no evident consequences.

          3                 This selective use of a gag rule

          4  makes for a hostile and chilling work environment,

          5  where management can arbitrarily dismiss individual

          6  programmers with no reasons given.

          7                 On top of this, some of the most

          8  professional and competent producers at WBAI are

          9  subjected to verbal abuse by management and other

         10  staff, on and off air, and are sometimes even

         11  threatened physically by certain staff while

         12  management stands silently by.

         13                 Finally, management is trying to

         14  institutionalize the current state of affairs by

         15  writing unpaid staff entirely out of a new labor

         16  contract.

         17                 But we believe that selective gag

         18  rules and intimidation are part of a broader plan, a

         19  policy coming from the Pacifica National Board to

         20  radically alter the nature of WBAI. In a meeting

         21  with producers last week, the interim general

         22  manager of WBAI, Utrice Leid, announced that we are

         23  no longer meant to indulge in "Left Radio" whatever

         24  that means. What it means to me is an ideological

         25  litmus test that can be used as yet another pretext
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          2  to throw more programs off the air, at the whim of

          3  management.

          4                 In other cities, Pacifica has been

          5  systematically removing progressive programs for a

          6  long time.

          7                 In LA the general manager famously

          8  declared that he didn't want to "hear about police

          9  brutality before breakfast" when referring to Amy

         10  Goodman's award winning program "Democracy Now!"

         11                 The Pacifica station in Housing,

         12  which used to broadcast in eight languages with a

         13  wealth of community programs is now English only,

         14  with mainly music, minimal public affairs

         15  programming and no local news. The Washington, DC

         16  station is similar. These are the stations that are

         17  being held up by Pacifica as model radio stations

         18  and this is the direction in which they want to take

         19  WBAI.

         20                 The wealth and diversity of a radio

         21  station is measured by the breadth of issues we

         22  cover and the perspectives we bring to our coverage.

         23  We appeal to you to vote for this resolution

         24  supporting our efforts to reverse the tide at WBAI

         25  to rescue the diversity that we are in imminent
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          2  danger of losing.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Let me have Steven

          5  Banks. Steven. Okay, he is not here.

          6                 Let's go to Patty Hefley.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Madam Chair,

          8  just while the next witness is getting seated, in

          9  that it's so late this morning, I just wanted to

         10  take this second to thank you for scheduling the

         11  hearing on today's bill. On know from the Speaker's

         12  Office that you were very forceful in your position

         13  that your Committee needed to have this hearing and

         14  have it soon. So, I wanted that on the record.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you very

         16  much. Christine, again, thank you.

         17                 I have imposed a limit, I am trying

         18  to keep you as close to that as possible. Please.

         19  And I will hear from Patty Heffley first, Mr. Banks.

         20  Ladies first.

         21                 MS. HEFFLEY: Thank you. Thank you for

         22  having this hearing. My name is Patty Heffley, I'm a

         23  listener sponsor since 1988 to WBAI. I am the member

         24  of the Coalition for Democratic Pacifica New York

         25  Chapter, serving the listeners since 1996, a
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          2  listeners group, countrywide. I'm also a plaintiff

          3  in the listeners lawsuit to remove the Pacifica

          4  board, and I'm the website administrator for

          5  WBAI.net.

          6                 My purpose for speaking today is that

          7  I've been maintaining net website, WBAI.NET since

          8  1997. It is a listeners web site that was formed in

          9  order to inform the listeners and anyone else

         10  interested in finding out what was going on at

         11  Pacifica and WBAI, since there is a gag rule and no

         12  one was able to speak about the problems. That began

         13  in May of 1997.

         14                 On February 9th, 2001, I received an

         15  e-mail to desist the web site WBAI.net for reasons

         16  of trademark infringement, not only myself,

         17  WBAI.net, but SavePacifica.net, free WP of W.org,

         18  SavePacifica.org and WBAIfree.org have all received

         19  letters to desist under the trademark infringement.

         20                 Their attack on web sites is in

         21  violation of the First Amendment, it is censorship,

         22  there is free speeches protected on the Internet

         23  under the first amendment and the domain name is

         24  something like a book title. And we are critical of

         25  the Pacifica Foundation and the problems at WBAI.
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          2                 So, if a book is written and it is

          3  critical of something, and the title of the book has

          4  the same name as what you are criticizing, they do

          5  not stop publication of a book. And so a domain name

          6  with the same name is protected under the First

          7  Amendment of free speech.

          8                 They say that people could be

          9  confused if they come to that web site, might be

         10  confused of the WBAI.net official website. No one

         11  could be confused.

         12                 Relevant case law shows that we are

         13  engaged in the fair use of our name WABI.net, and we

         14  are pleased to have counsel, Paul Allen Levy from

         15  the Public Citizen Litigation Group, who has fought

         16  in the Supreme Court against the CIA for the Freedom

         17  of Information Act, and he has agreed to take the

         18  case.

         19                 These are not small problems when we

         20  are censored. The listeners are now censored. I am

         21  in a rare situation of being one of 12 plaintiffs in

         22  the listener lawsuit and soon to be a defendant as

         23  well against the Pacifica Foundation.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.
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          2                 Mr. Steven Banks. Thank you. Mr.

          3  Steven Banks, thank you for coming.

          4                 MR. BANKS: Thank you very much.

          5                 My name is Steven Banks. I have

          6  testified before the Council on many occasions on

          7  behalf of a large provider of legal services and on

          8  behalf of a number of community groups for which I'm

          9  counsel.

         10                 Today I'm appearing as a listener of

         11  WBAI in support of the resolution.

         12                 I have been a community lawyer for 20

         13  years at The Legal Aid Society, and during that

         14  period of time I have been able to articulate in

         15  public forums on national local media the great

         16  problems that low-income New Yorkers and low income

         17  people across the country suffer from as a result of

         18  government policies and government indifference.

         19                 I'm mindful, however, that I got my

         20  start in being able to have a public platform to

         21  articulate the needs of my clients on WBAI on Mimi

         22  Rosenberg's show in 1983.

         23                 I'm here today because I think that

         24  people who are in public life, and I consider myself

         25  to be in public life as a community lawyer, have an
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          2  obligation to speak out against injustice anywhere,

          3  since injustice anywhere is injustice everywhere.

          4                 I think that the shows and

          5  information that has been provided over the years

          6  through WBAI programs like Mimi Rosenberg's are

          7  critically important to provide real information to

          8  New Yorkers about what is occurring in our

          9  communities. I think that the actions taken by the

         10  Board of others at WBAI to eliminate critical

         11  programs and programmers is an injustice and a

         12  disservice to us all, and I would urge you to

         13  support this resolution. It is a very important

         14  thing that members of the City Council take a stand

         15  on issues that effect the citizens of the City, the

         16  residents of the City and what has happened at WBAI

         17  certainly fits that category.

         18                 So, thank you for this opportunity to

         19  lend my voice in support of your resolution.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Ray Laforest and

         21  Reverend Julio Torres.

         22                 MR. LAFOREST: Good morning.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Good morning.

         24                 Your name, please?

         25                 MR. LAFOREST: My name is Ray
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          2  Laforest. My remarks have been literally eaten by my

          3  computer. I know Carl has heard this before, in my

          4  case this is true.

          5                 So, I will be glad to manage to

          6  reconstruct most of it, and I will be glad to finish

          7  it and send you a copy in prompt fashion.

          8                 Thank you for giving us the

          9  opportunity to discuss this very important issue.

         10  I'm director of Haitian Constituency USA. I work as

         11  a labor organizer, staff representative for District

         12  Council 1707, AFSCME. I'm a national coordinator for

         13  Momi (phonetic) Movement, and I sit on the Central

         14  Labor Council Committee for Immigration.

         15                 I'm saying so not to brag, to

         16  demonstrate how busy I am, but rather to indicate

         17  that, like many of the people here on a personal

         18  purpose, somebody connected to my community, the

         19  Asian Community, and the New York City community at

         20  large, and that we're here to fight for something

         21  that we care very much about.

         22                 I'm also a member of the Coordinating

         23  Committee of the Concerned Friends of WBAI, is an

         24  organization that is on whose behalf I am speaking

         25  today, and it's in relation to the crisis, what is
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          2  really a crisis situation currently existing between

          3  WBAI and Pacifica.

          4                 This is with some trepidation that I

          5  address this body, entrusted as I feel with the

          6  partial responsibility to present an accurate

          7  picture to you, both of the vital role played by

          8  WBAI Pacifica in the survival and betterment of the

          9  communities that it serve, and the impact of the

         10  support of that model.

         11                 Those that have preceded me have made

         12  compelling remarks and presented a strong image of

         13  the progressive nature of community activism of WBAI

         14  and Pacifica for the last 40 years. They have

         15  presented clearly the attempt of Pacifica management

         16  to assert the stifling level of control, according

         17  to resolution, over the WBAI and its sister

         18  stations, trying to fundamentally alter their

         19  character and purpose.

         20                 Other people have spoken about union

         21  busting, about gag rules in a station that prides

         22  itself of being a free speech station.

         23                 They have squandered precious

         24  resources on institutions whose purposes are counter

         25  to our values. Others have established the strong
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          2  opposition of both organized labor and most

          3  community and political leaders of the City to the

          4  takeover of our station. And still further, the

          5  strong support that we, who are fighting for the

          6  survival of WBAI and Pacifica, have received amongst

          7  religious groups and communities of color in

          8  particular.

          9                 Let me just add quickly that the

         10  history of WBAI is very clear. This station, and the

         11  network Pacifica, has been involved in every

         12  relevant struggle for justice, peace and investment

         13  of people in the history of this country, whether we

         14  are talking about the Vietnam war, the civil right

         15  movement, police brutality and the like.

         16                 As a member of the Haitian community,

         17  I've been directly involved on different shows,

         18  including Building Bridges, morning show and others,

         19  in bringing those issues to my community, to the

         20  station.

         21                 At times we found WBAI valuable

         22  before some press were within the Haitian community

         23  itself. And I'm here, finally, to denounce, those

         24  individuals, who either through being misguided, and

         25  there are a few of them, but particularly to greed
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          2  and furthering personal gain have decided to put the

          3  people's business for sale.

          4                 I stand here and I look around very

          5  quickly, and I don't want to eliminate anybody, and

          6  ask people who spend their lives being activists who

          7  are known throughout their community, whether it's

          8  in Harlem, in fight for justice for gay people,

          9  labor, and I, without bragging, I'm one of those

         10  people. And we are the community that BAI stands

         11  for.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: I'm going to call

         14  on Reverend Julio Torres and Paul McIsaac. Please

         15  come up so we can speak.

         16                 I'm going to get tough now. Three

         17  minutes, and when I hit that gavel, you're gone.

         18                 REVEREND TORRES: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Three minutes.

         20                 REVEREND TORRES: Thank you. I'm the

         21  Reverend Julio Torres. I am currently the priest in

         22  charge of St. Mark's Church in the Bowery. I'm

         23  originally from El Salvador in Central America, and

         24  migrated here to the US in 1973.

         25                 In my country of origin I lived
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          2  through periods of great repression, when all media,

          3  particularly radio, were suppressed and gagged. And

          4  it was because radio was and is the means of

          5  communication most available to the majority of

          6  people and the most popular way of dissemination

          7  among the poor and disenfranchised people, and I

          8  believe that is true here also. The radio is one of

          9  the main vehicles for the Latino community, which I

         10  represent.

         11                 I came to this country seeking for

         12  freedom, and I'm outraged and very concerned and

         13  dismayed at the pattern of firings and censorship

         14  placed on WBAI by Pacifico Radio Board. This station

         15  and the newscasters that have been fired have been,

         16  in my opinion, very effective spokespersons for the

         17  Latino community and for other poor and

         18  disenfranchised communities.

         19                 Our historic church at St. Marks in

         20  the Bowery has been committed to free speech and the

         21  defense of human rights, which has recently hosted a

         22  vigil to protest the bombing of the Island of

         23  Vieques by the US Navy that was attended by

         24  distinguished Council members, and also by three of

         25  the four mayoral candidates.
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          2                 So, free speech and the defense of

          3  human rights and environmental concerns, all of

          4  which have been espoused by WBAI, are presently, in

          5  my opinion, they are under attack.

          6                 Therefore, I urge you to support

          7  Resolution 1723, calling for the reinstatement of

          8  all fired staff, the lifting of the gag rule and the

          9  end of any kind of censorship.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Reverend Torres (in

         12  Spanish).

         13                 MR. McISAAC: Paul McIsaac.

         14                 Since 1960 I've been a listener to

         15  WBAI. I was a staff member there in the 1970s, and

         16  up until the 1990s a volunteer program producer, and

         17  to speak to a question that was raised by the

         18  Council, these two unfortunate young men who sat

         19  here, an assistant and an assistant to Utrice Leid,

         20  in one case, who has been there for weeks, and the

         21  other young man who said that he was an assistant

         22  producer on the morning show, that is the entry

         23  level work at a radio station.

         24                 The anger that I sense from the

         25  Council for that management to send those
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          2  unfortunate two young members here, is exactly the

          3  same attitude that Pacifica Radio has for New York,

          4  for the listeners, and for our elected

          5  representatives. That is exactly how Pacifica views

          6  this station, they feel they have the power to act

          7  in this completely autocratic manner.

          8                 Through the 30 more years that I've

          9  been at WBAI, I have never seen a manager that act

         10  in the way the current management is acting.

         11                 The final point, starting in

         12  Christmas, as a listener, and as an old-time

         13  producer, I decided to call up people at the radio

         14  station who were not vocal and who were not banned

         15  or fired and talk to them.

         16                 Speaking to producers who are

         17  currently working at the station on the telephone

         18  when they are at the station it's like calling

         19  someone in the Soviet Union in the 1950s.

         20                 People will say to you, I'm sorry I'm

         21  not on the secure line. I can't tell you, and I

         22  think that the experience that the Councilwoman had

         23  trying to get an answer out of Utrice Leid is the

         24  fact that what you have there is a very defensive

         25  autocratic system. And, so, I think it is important,
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          2  especially for this Committee, which is concerned

          3  with workers, to understand that what's going on

          4  there now is intimidation, people are frightened and

          5  people are afraid to speak out and they are being

          6  threatened, and the listeners are being threatened

          7  that if you don't support us in the upcoming

          8  marathon, you will lose your radio station because

          9  Pacifico Board will sell it. That is exactly the

         10  logic that will be used to also intimidate and

         11  frighten the listeners.

         12                 Part of our problem is really this

         13  group of the Pacifica Board, which views this

         14  station and Pacifica as its own tool for its own

         15  purposes.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: I will start

         18  calling two at a time, okay?

         19                 Janice Bryant and Steve Seltzer,

         20  please.

         21                 Is Janet here? Okay, let me get

         22  Steven Harding and Steve Seltzer, okay? Mr. Harding

         23  is not here? Okay, let me call someone else. Dorothy

         24  Williams-Pereira. Okay, thank you.

         25                 MR. SELTZER: My name is Steven
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          2  Seltzer, and on my card I promised to take no more

          3  than 30 seconds, and I will not.

          4                 One of the sins of the present BAI

          5  manager is to ban on-air discussion of her firings

          6  and bannings and censorship. Having BAI give voice

          7  to dissident groups the world over and ban

          8  discussion of its own policies is like allowing

          9  congress to discuss international relations but not

         10  domestic affairs.

         11                 I urge you to support this

         12  resolution.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

         14                 MS. WILLIAMS-PEREIRA: My name is

         15  Dorothy Williams-Pereira.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Dorothy, just let

         17  me get the next speaker.

         18                 Nydia Leaf and Diane Mason, please

         19  get ready. Thank you.

         20                 Go ahead.

         21                 MS. WILLIAMS-PEREIRA: My name is

         22  Dorothy Williams-Pereira, and I'm going to confess

         23  at first that I am a candidate, I am seeking office

         24  through the Green Party for the Queens Borough

         25  Presidency. I didn't plan to mention that. As you
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          2  see, I put "self" on my piece of paper, but because

          3  BAI brought that up, I wanted that out of the way

          4  right away, and I do consider that Grandpa Lewis, Al

          5  Lewis, being removed from BAI has been a political

          6  activity to prevent smaller parties from staying on

          7  the ballot, and I think that it's also a threat to

          8  even republicans and democrats, who after we're

          9  kicked out of the way, will find themselves in the

         10  same position.

         11                 I look back on this because I, too,

         12  have been gagged by BAI. Many years ago in the

         13  seventies, Barbara Seamen, who had a show on

         14  childbirth and obstetrics and gynecology found it a

         15  need for her to want to remove words from the tape

         16  that I was on back in the seventies, the words being

         17  I am for what's scientifically best for the mother

         18  and child, which I have never understood the

         19  reasoning of. Barbara Seamen is still speaking on

         20  BAI and I am not.

         21                 I was a supporter, my husband was a

         22  supporter, we did financial and volunteer work on

         23  BAI, which we do not do anymore, but we are still

         24  listeners, because unfortunately the atmosphere in

         25  this country is very bad for freedom of speech, and
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          2  becoming worse, and I support this Intro. 1723, in

          3  order to put a stop to it to make an end to it. If

          4  it doesn't stop here, it's not going to stop in

          5  general, and we need to stop this. We need to

          6  support free speech and freedom of press, our

          7  constitutional rights, we need to protect these

          8  rights before we don't have them, before all of us

          9  don't have them. We need to protect our right to

         10  diversity, to grassroots democracy and to the very

         11  things that built this country in the first place

         12  and which we are striving for. Please stop it here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you.

         14                 Nydia Leaf and Diane.

         15                 MS. LEAF: Yes, I'm Nydia Leaf. You've

         16  heard a lot of eloquent voices and I don't want to

         17  repeat anything you've already. I do want to quote

         18  Lincoln up there. BAI is a station "by the people,

         19  for the people, and of the people." It's been a

         20  remarkable institution. I listened to it from the

         21  very beginning. I happened to have known Lou

         22  Schweitzer who bought the license and gave it to

         23  Pacifica. He was a remarkable man. He had vision in

         24  very much the same ways as Louis Hill who founded

         25  the whole Pacifica network in Berkely did. And the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            97

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  things that he stood for are the things that he

          3  wanted New York to enjoy, which is a voice for the

          4  voiceless, a wonderful asset for the City. He bought

          5  a theater Off Broadway at a time when Off Broadway

          6  pretty much didn't exist, it was called the Delease

          7  Theater, he renamed it for his wife, Lucille Lortel.

          8  He had the vision then to know that all Broadway was

          9  not enough for Theatre. You had to have Off

         10  Broadway, now you have Off Off Broadway, you have

         11  this whole myriad array. The same thing for the

         12  voice of all the communities that live in New York.

         13  He had that vision in 1959. We have got to preserve

         14  it, it's a precious asset.

         15                 Thank you for your time.

         16                 MS. MASON: Pardon me if I do a little

         17  repeating, but I think the situation is serious

         18  enough to bear some repetition.

         19                 As a long-time listener and supporter

         20  of WBAI Pacifica, my overarching concern with recent

         21  events has to do with the need for independent media

         22  in a society that would be free.

         23                 Today almost all of our news and

         24  information outlets, television, radio, magazines,

         25  et cetera, are fully owned and operated by a handful
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          2  of mega corporate entitles with a very few partially

          3  owned by corporations and a government entity like

          4  the Corporation for Public Broadcasting.

          5                 Make no mistake, the Corporation for

          6  Public Broadcasting Network, like the gentile PBS

          7  and the gentile NPR, will never disturb the

          8  comfortably complacent or ruffle any corporate or

          9  government feathers.

         10                 Outside of Lou Hill's Pacifica

         11  network, the latter are the best we have, but they

         12  do not serve as the voice of dissidence. They do not

         13  give voice to otherwise voiceless issues and

         14  peoples.

         15                 In broadcasting, only the Pacifica

         16  network of Lou Hill's vision and its many smaller

         17  affiliate stations did that.

         18                 What has been going on recently, I'm

         19  going to try to cut this, is an entirely different

         20  phenomenon, reflecting the corporate globalization

         21  and the increasing privatization of every other

         22  public institution.

         23                 The free flow of information and the

         24  analysis of information and the interest strictly of

         25  truth is absolutely essential to the existence of a
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          2  free society.

          3                 Citizens who are uninformed or

          4  partially informed, or informed in a way that

          5  distorts reality to serve bottom line interests or a

          6  government agency's perception of "national"

          7  interests, are incapable of reaching the sort of

          8  informed judgment and making the sort of responsible

          9  choices that create and sustain a democracy.

         10                 Instead, their minds and indeed their

         11  fate are manipulated to serve the interest of a

         12  master class.

         13                 In order to have a free society,

         14  there must be public monitoring of various private

         15  greeds and enterprises. A public that can

         16  responsibly and effectively conduct such a

         17  monitoring must have access to a full free flow of

         18  information.

         19                 Let me try to cut further. Going down

         20  to this, in a free society, the classic mission of

         21  the press is to tell the truth, the whole truth, no

         22  matter how gritty, no matter how problematic to

         23  business or "national" interests.

         24                 The HL Menkens of the world, the

         25  so-called muck-rakers, were once admired because
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          2  they did not sugarcoat or withhold information and

          3  therefore served to check and balance business and

          4  government power. The HL Menken-type journalist

          5  today hardly makes a living, is often fired and is

          6  kept virtually invisible. I'm almost finished, I

          7  promise.

          8                 It's just that kind of gritty

          9  no-holds barred journalism and the checks and

         10  balances it provides to private power that keeps a

         11  society free. It's just that kind of journalism with

         12  which we were provided here in New York by WBAI

         13  before the presently constituted renegated Pacifica

         14  Board and it's New York representative Utrice Leid

         15  came on the scene.

         16                 Thank you for your time, and thank

         17  you for what you do here.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Okay, thank you.

         19                 Audre Charette and Beth Sapka.

         20                 Gene Glickman. Deena Kolbert. Just

         21  tell us who's here.

         22                 Beth and Audre have gone? We have

         23  Gene Glickman, right? And Deena Kolbert.

         24                 Your name?

         25                 MS. CHARETTE: Audre Charette.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Audrey, okay. Audre

          3  and Gene.

          4                 Audre first.

          5                 Let's see how many are left, please.

          6                 Deena Kolbert. Malcolm McConache, I

          7  think. Is that right? And David Occhioto?

          8                 MR. OCCHIUTO: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: How do you

         10  pronounce it?

         11                 MR. OCCHIUTO: O-keet-o.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Dr. Anthony

         13  Gronowicz. Four, that's it.

         14                 Okay, please.

         15                 MS. CHARETTE: Hi. My name is Audre

         16  Charette, and the reason I'm here is because I'm

         17  very concerned about WBAI. I've been a listener for

         18  the past five years, and as I told my daughter, WBAI

         19  was a lifeline to me, so in this current crisis, as

         20  of December 23rd, known as the Christmas Coup, I

         21  have not been involved in basically any

         22  organizations. I'm a working class person, currently

         23  unemployed recently, but my point is this, is that

         24  WBAI has meant a lot to me, and especially as a

         25  working class person, 9:00 to 5:00, missing most of
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          2  what is happening in the world, I could catch up

          3  with this particular radio station.

          4                 I'm very concerned that access to the

          5  station has been cut off, and the camaraderie that I

          6  have become acquainted with is no longer there, and

          7  I'm concerned about those, who as employees at the

          8  station, may not be privileged to have the freedom

          9  of speech that they may wish to have. So, I urge the

         10  Council members to please support resolution 1723.

         11                 MR. GLICKMAN: Hi. My name is Gene

         12  Glickman. I live in Brooklyn, and I am not a member

         13  of Concerned Friends of BAI. Nevertheless, I am

         14  concerned about BAI. I appreciate your ability to

         15  concentrate through these hours of hearings, and I'm

         16  going to try and not duplicate what's been said

         17  before.

         18                 One of the things that hasn't been

         19  stressed has been the rights of listeners. We have

         20  talked about the rights of free speech, but there

         21  has to be the other end, that is the people who are

         22  speaking have to be able to speak to people. If

         23  people are cut off the air, I can't listen to them

         24  anymore. And, so, for me that's very important.

         25                 BAI is really unique, let me just
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          2  give you one example which hasn't been mentioned.

          3                 When the hearings, the trial took

          4  place in Albany of the cops that killed Amadou

          5  Diallo, those, that event was covered from gavel to

          6  gavel on radio station WBAI. I was able to listen to

          7  it. I wasn't able to attend because it was in

          8  Albany, but I was able to listen to it. If BAI had

          9  been like it is today, probably I wouldn't have been

         10  able to hear it.

         11                 And, so, what I want to say to you

         12  is, I speak for the unaffiliated, that is, many of

         13  the people who came here mentioned the groups that

         14  they represent, I represent only myself but I think

         15  I represent many, many, many people who are

         16  unaffiliated and I'm speaking for them.

         17                 They, in this hearing, are also the

         18  voices. And, so, I want you to keep in mind that it

         19  isn't just organizations who are backing WBAI, it is

         20  also individuals like myself.

         21                 MS. KOLBERT: Good morning. My name is

         22  Deena Kolbert, and I was a co-host of City Watch

         23  which was part of Wake-Up Call, it was a segment

         24  that was sponsored by the same vote coalition. We

         25  represent over 25 social and economic justice
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          2  issues.

          3                 I simply want to express what as a

          4  co-producer happened so that you have a better

          5  understanding from a producer's point of view.

          6                 We were asked not to be a segment any

          7  longer on the new show, but rather to be a pretaped

          8  feature. The pretaped feature aspect were that they,

          9  the producers of the morning show, had the right to,

         10  in essence, censor or edit anything that was on the

         11  tape.

         12                 We have boycotted being a feature.

         13  And I just want to express that that is another

         14  element to what is happening at the station which

         15  has not been expressed today.

         16                 So, thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Am I to understand

         18  that prior to the pretaping that was requested you

         19  were just live?

         20                 MS. KOLBERT: We were live. And, in

         21  fact, just prior to our choice of boycotting, we had

         22  several elected officials, Congressman Major Owens,

         23  who we were told we could not have on the show,

         24  Assemblywoman Deborah Glick, who we were told we

         25  could not have on the show, and, so, when they said
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          2  they wanted to feature us, and they wanted to help

          3  us improve our value, we questioned, because those

          4  were the words we were given, they wanted something

          5  that was more upbeat, and I'm not exactly sure, when

          6  we are talking about prison reform, and we are

          7  talking about WEP workers, and we are talking about

          8  issues that affect the lives, how we can be upbeat,

          9  we weren't sure if they meant they wanted us to

         10  dance and sing about it, or quite how they wanted us

         11  to express what it was we were talking about.

         12                 So, I hope I've expressed what it is.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Absolutely.

         14                 MR. McCONACHE: My name is Malcolm

         15  McConache. I've been a listener of WBAI for nine

         16  years and I've worked every fund-raising drive for

         17  the past seven years, with the exception of the last

         18  drive.

         19                 I have a brother-in-law that's

         20  serving 15 years to life, and I was going through

         21  the parole process, it's a very painful process, get

         22  him ready for the parole hearing, as well as my

         23  family, and I was able to testify and be a guest on

         24  Wake-Up Call, and they have a number of people that

         25  have served time and that have reached out to the
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          2  prison population.

          3                 So, Wake-Up Call is beautiful in the

          4  sense that it was very in touch with the community

          5  and you had a chance literally overnight to be on

          6  the show the next day. It was extremely informative,

          7  so much to the point that during my commute into

          8  Manhattan in 40 minutes I was so addicted to

          9  Bernard's voice that I taped that segment and then

         10  at home at night I would listen to the segment that

         11  I missed in the subway. Without his voice and the

         12  other voices that have been missed, it's been

         13  extremely difficult for all of the WBAI community,

         14  and I join with many of the people that have

         15  testified this morning in urging you to pass this

         16  resolution.

         17                 Thanks very much.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Madam Chair, if

         19  I could just -- just before you step down, I just

         20  want to say, you know a lot of the issues we talked

         21  about today we've talked about are somewhat larger

         22  issues and societal issues, but I just want to for

         23  the record state I think your testimony is so

         24  important because you're seeking, as someone who has

         25  a family member in a prison system who personally is
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          2  accessing the help of WBAI, and I just think it's

          3  really important for us to note that society is

          4  suffering by there being no WBAI, as it really

          5  should be, but individuals who personally need the

          6  help like you and your brother-in-law, I think

          7  sometimes we forget about the actual people

          8  connected to these issues. So, thank you for coming

          9  and for waiting so long to speak.

         10                 DR. GRONOWICZ: My name is Anthony

         11  Gronowicz. I have laryngitis. I will be very brief.

         12  I was on -- I'm a labor historian, I've written on

         13  labor and race issues in New York City, and because

         14  of that Utrice had me on her show on numerous

         15  occasions last year, and I came to the conclusion

         16  off mike, that nothing motivated her more than

         17  personal ambition. I wasn't quite sure what force

         18  was behind her, but I didn't think too much of it. I

         19  was happy to be on the show and to talk about race

         20  relations. I am a speaker of the New York Council

         21  for Humanities on the history of race relations in

         22  New York City, and native New Yorker, and very

         23  active in my union, the Professional Staff Congress,

         24  I'm a recruiting captain, the Bronx Campus. So, I

         25  welcomed the opportunity to be on a show and talk
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          2  about the history of race relations and labor in New

          3  York City.

          4                 And fortunately, Larry Adams preceded

          5  me and covered all of the points and all of the

          6  people whose rights were grossly violated in the

          7  Christmas Coup and I want to say that this issue of

          8  Pacifica and the BAI is certainly, from the point of

          9  view of a US Historian, which I am, the most

         10  important media issue ever to come before the

         11  American public, in terms of its national impact and

         12  the type of enthusiasm that is generated for the

         13  values that we must uphold out of free speech, labor

         14  rights and democracy in general.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. OCCHIUTO: Thank you, Speaker, and

         17  distinguished members. My name is David Occhiuto, a

         18  listener, sponsor for a number of years. I'm an

         19  artist, and in New York City a direct beneficiary of

         20  activists who have come before me in terms of I have

         21  a way to live in New York City, thanks to rent

         22  stabilization, and I am part of the true New York of

         23  the past that tried to make life decent and possible

         24  for low-income artists and artisans.

         25                 I submitted a letter that I have
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          2  written to the station manager to you, so you may

          3  read my words to her. I won't go through that right

          4  now. I just want to say that Wake-Up Call, as it

          5  existed, was such an integral part of the cultural

          6  of New York City, the real New York City that we

          7  know and love, and to have that loss, I can't

          8  describe to you what the feeling that came over me

          9  when I realized over the Christmas vacation what was

         10  happening, and what we were feeling, the people who

         11  truly loved what was happening on BAI, which was

         12  community-based radio.

         13                 Right now we are being subject to

         14  chief executive officer radio. When they come on and

         15  say listener sponsored community-based radio, I

         16  cringe. It is no longer community-based radio, it is

         17  CEO radio, and that's the difference and we have to

         18  do something about it.

         19                 Your position here is so important

         20  because as the world becomes more police oriented,

         21  there is less and less options for us to protest,

         22  and non-aggressive, non-violent methods of creating

         23  social change really have become so important, more

         24  than ever. And your work in discussing this with

         25  your colleagues and in doing your best job you can
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          2  to bring back the real New York is so important.

          3                 As a final note, Wake-Up Call,

          4   "wake-up call" that phrase, we all know what that

          5  means, the morning show, when I hear that, I'm in

          6  morning. The morning. We have to bring back the dawn

          7  of New York City and create a new day that will last

          8  forever.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CRUZ: Thank you very much

         11  for staying. At this point I will conclude the Civil

         12  Service and Labor Committee Meeting, having heard

         13  everyone.

         14                 This Resolution 1723 will be laid

         15  over, and I think we have all the information we

         16  need from WBAI, but certainly keep it coming, and

         17  this will be taken into consideration for future

         18  action. Thank you so much.

         19                 Special thanks to Council Member

         20  Quinn for presenting this. Thank you.

         21                 (The following written testimony was

         22  read into the record.)

         23

         24  Written Testimony Of:

         25  David & Julie Occhiuto
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          2  Utrice Leid

          3  Acting General Manager

          4  WBAI- Pacifica Radio

          5  120 Wall St., 10th Floor

          6  NY, NY 10005

          7

          8  Fax (212) 747-1698

          9

         10  Dear Ms. Leid,.

         11                 WBAI is listener-sponsored radio.

         12  On-air discussions of station business, policy and

         13  governance must be permitted and protected as public

         14  affairs, right-to-know, community-based radio.

         15                 I am deeply concerned about the

         16  direction of WBAI since you have become Station

         17  Manager. You have fired highly respected and

         18  well-loved veteran producers and staff; you have

         19  actually banned certain producers, staff, volunteers

         20  and listeners from the facility; you have decreed

         21  that information on meetings organized by listeners

         22  cannot be announced on the air; you have even gone

         23  on the air to personally censor a member of the U.S.

         24  Congress!!! Your actions and policy decisions have

         25  been an absolute betrayal of progressive and
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          2  free-speech ethics. I can only conclude that you are

          3  morally unqualified to manage a community radio

          4  station.

          5                 I believe WBAI deserves a station

          6  manager who not only sees to the day to day

          7  practicalities but strives to facilitate and protect

          8  the station as an institution dedicated to a

          9  democratic governance process. The WBAI community

         10  deserves a station manager who is committed to

         11  working for a listener-sponsored radio station where

         12  members and subscribers have a direct voice in the

         13  organization they pay for and support. Your record

         14  thus far proves you are not the person for the job.

         15                 All firings and bannings must be

         16  reversed!

         17                 The original 'Wake-Up Call' must be

         18  returned to the air!!

         19                 Discussions on-air of station

         20  business, policy, and governance must be protected

         21  as public affairs, right-to-know, community-based

         22  radio!!!

         23                 (End of written testimony.)

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 12:45 p.m.)

         25
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 7th day of May 2001.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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